From DIVISION OF DERMATOLOGY AND VENEREOLOGY, DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE, SOLNA Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

# PSORIASIS: OBSERVATIONAL STUDIES ON CLINICAL COURSE, ECONOMIC BURDEN AND TREATMENT

Axel Svedbom



Stockholm 2021

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2021 © Axel Svedbom, 2021 ISBN 978-91-8016-221-0

# PSORIASIS: OBSERVATIONAL STUDIES ON CLINICAL COURSE, ECONOMIC BURDEN AND TREATMENT THESIS FOR DOCTROAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

### Axel Svedbom

The thesis will be defended in public at Lecture Hall L8:00, Center for Molecular Medicine, Visionsgatan 18, 17176, Stockholm, Sweden, 04 June, 2021, 14.00.

Principal Supervisor: Mona Ståhle Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Division of Dermatology and Venereology

*Co-supervisors:* Linus Jönsson Karolinska Institutet Department of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society Division of Neurogeriatrics

Ingemar Petersson Lund University Department of Clinical Sciences Division of Orthopedics

Mats Rosenlund Karolinska Institutet Department of Learning, Informatics, Management and Ethics Division for Medical Management Centre *Opponent:* Luigi Naldi Ospedale San Bortolo Department of Dermatology

Examination Board: Oliver Seifert Linköping University Department of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences Division of Cell Biology

Bernt Lindelöf Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Division of Dermatology and Venereology

Alexander Egeberg University of Copenhagen Bispebjerg Hospital Department of Dermatology

### **POPULAR SCIENCE SUMMARY OF THE THESIS**

Signs and symptoms of psoriasis at onset can predict the course of the disease and it may be possible to modify the risk of developing severe psoriasis with early systemic intervention. This is important because severe psoriasis is associated with impaired quality of life, increased risk of death, high health care costs, and suboptimal treatment outcomes.

Study 1 in this thesis followed 721 patients from onset of psoriasis and ten years thereafter. The study found that patients with plaque phenotype, more than mild disease activity, and scalp lesions at onset had a probability of 52% to develop severe psoriasis compared to 11% in patients with mild disease activity at onset (p<0.001). Furthermore, patients with pain at sites where tendons attach to bone were almost five times more likely to develop psoriatic arthritis, a debilitating joint disease, than patients without joint pain at onset (59% vs 12%, p<0.001). Among all patients treated with systemics for psoriasis, patients who were treated within one year of disease onset had lower risk of having severe psoriasis after ten years compared with patients who were treated thereafter (38% vs 65%, p=0.044).

Study 2 in this thesis identified 39,074 patients with psoriasis and 154,775 control individuals without psoriasis in regional Swedish health data registers and followed them for up to nine years. The study found that patients with mild and severe psoriasis died on average 0.8, and 2.6 years younger than controls without psoriasis. The cause of death contributing most to the excess mortality was cardiovascular disease, accounting for 48% of the excess mortality in patients with mild disease and 33% in patients with severe disease. Analyzing data from a subset of these patients alive in 2010, Study 3 estimated the economic impact of psoriasis. The economic impact of psoriasis generally increased with disease severity. However, the study also found that effective treatment might reduce costs. Study 4 also used a subset of patients discontinued, switched, or received add-on therapy within one year of treatment start. Furthermore, within one year of having discontinued treatment, 49% of patients on topicals, 61% of patients on systemics, and 80% on patients on biologics, restarted the same or another treatment.

Study 5 in this thesis analyzed data on 727 treatment episodes with adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate in 542 patients. The study found that adalimumab might be a good choice as first line systemic treatment for psoriasis: Patients treated with adalimumab had better drug survival, lower disease activity, and better quality of life than patients treated with methotrexate, the most frequently prescribed first line systemic treatment in psoriasis. Nevertheless, the results indicate that even with adalimumab, mean PASI during maintenance treatment was higher than some recent treatment goals and patients still had impaired quality of life.

Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory skin disease that affects both body and psyche. It is associated with comorbidities including heart attack, stroke, and cancer. In recent years, advances in medicine have improved treatment of psoriasis. However, much is still unknown about the clinical course of the disease, its impact on mortality, economic burden, and treatment effectiveness in clinical practice. This thesis aims to address these knowledge gaps with the ultimate goal to help improving the care of patients with psoriasis.

Overall findings from these studies reinforce the notion that plaque psoriasis is a chronic disease associated with substantial burden both from economic and clinical perspectives. Identification of subgroups of patients with adverse prognosis may contribute to better and more cost-effective management of the disease. The finding that early systemic intervention may affect the disease course may affect the treatment paradigm in psoriasis, but needs to be confirmed in randomized controlled clinical trials.

# ABSTRACT

Better understanding of long-term prognosis, clinical course, comorbidities, economic burden, and treatment of psoriasis, can improve care of patients with the disease and may inform decisions on resource allocation, benefitting not only patients but also the society in general.

The Stockholm Psoriasis Cohort (SPC), Study 1, was initiated to describe the clinical course or psoriasis. The SPC enrolled 721 patients with onset of psoriasis within the last twelve months. 542 (75%) patients had plaque psoriasis and 174 (24%) had guttate psoriasis. Patients were followed in medical records and registers, and among the 686 participants alive after ten years, 546 (80%) responded to a questionnaire and 509 (74%) were also examined clinically. Plaque psoriasis was strikingly persistent. Forty one percent of the patients with severe disease at onset had severe disease at ten years compared with 9% of participants with mild or moderate disease at onset (Relative Risk [RR]=4.3; p<0.001). Guttate onset was associated with a favorable disease course: After ten years, 56/116 (48%) of patients were in remission without treatment and only 1/94 patients with mild or moderate guttate onset had severe psoriasis at ten years. Recursive partitioning analysis identified groups with distinctive risks for severe skin disease and Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA): The cumulative incidence of severe disease in participants with plaque phenotype, at least moderate disease, and scalp psoriasis at onset was 52% (95% Confidence Interval [CI]: 41% to 64%), compared to 11% (95% CI: 8% to 14%) in patients with mild disease at onset. Forty-eight of 82 patients (59%) with peripheral enthesitis at onset had PsA after ten years compared to 37/304 (12%) without arthralgia at onset (p<0.001). Systemic treatment at or before enrolment was associated with reduced risk for severe disease at ten years compared to systemic initiation later (Odds Ratio: 0.24; 95% CI: 0.06 to 0.90). Overall, this study indicates that the course of psoriasis can be predicted with good discriminatory power and that it may be modified by early effective intervention. The latter finding should be confirmed in randomized controlled clinical trials.

The second study estimated all-cause and cause-specific mortality in 34,355 patients with mild psoriasis and 4,719 patients with severe psoriasis compared to 154,775 age- sex- and residency matched controls. The study found that patients with mild and severe psoriasis had excess all-cause mortality: Hazard ratio (HR) 1.15 (95% CI: 1.10 to 1.21) for patients with mild psoriasis, and HR 1.56 (95% CI: 1.36 to 1.79) for patients with severe psoriasis. Cardiovascular disease accounted for the largest proportion of excess mortality (48% in mild psoriasis and 33% in severe psoriasis). For patients with mild and severe psoriasis, the causes of death with the highest excess risks were kidney disease (HR: 2.20; 95% CI: 1.36 to 3.56), and liver disease (HR: 4.26; 95% CI: 1.87 to 9.73), respectively. The findings suggest that it may be valuable to screen patients with psoriasis for cardiovascular, kidney, and liver disease.

Economic burden of psoriasis in 2010 and potential cost offsets with biologic treatment were estimated in Study 3, using data on 31,043 patients with psoriasis and 111,645 sex-, age- and residency-matched controls. Patients had higher direct and indirect costs compared to controls after adjusting for the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI): USD 3,555 versus USD

2,190 (p < 0.001) for direct costs and USD 9,898 versus USD 6,579 (p < 0.001) for indirect costs. Both mean direct and mean indirect costs generally increased with disease severity inferred by most potent treatment received, albeit the increase was not monotonic. Disregarding the costs of biologics, initiation of biologic treatment was estimated to generate one-year direct and indirect cost offsets from USD 1,135 (95% CI: 328 to 2,050) to USD 4,422 (95% CI: 2,771 to 6,552), and USD 774 (95% CI: -535 to 2,019) to USD 1,875 (95% CI: 188 to 3,650), respectively. Collectively, these findings show that psoriasis is associated with substantial direct and indirect costs, which may be modifiable with effective treatment.

Study 4 described treatment patterns in 19,103 patients with psoriasis and estimated the oneyear cumulative incidences of treatment events (discontinuation, switch, or augmentation) with topicals, systemics, and biologics at 93%, 72%, and 75%, respectively. Within one year of having discontinued treatment, the cumulative incidences of starting a new treatment was 49% for topicals, 61% for systemics, and 80% for biologics. These findings highlight the unmet needs across the disease spectrum and underscore the chronicity of the disease.

Study 5 estimated real-world effectiveness of adalimumab and etanercept compared to methotrexate. After adjusting for confounders, adalimumab had better drug survival (HR: 0.67; 95% CI: 0.51 to 0.88), lower mean predicted PASI (-2.0; 95% CI: -2.6 to -1.5) and DLQI (-0.9; 95% CI: -1.5 to -0.3) during maintenance treatment than methotrexate. The results for the comparison between etanercept and methotrexate were more mixed. These findings support adalimumab as first line systemic treatment for psoriasis, but further data, especially on safety and costs, are needed.

# LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. Svedbom A, Mallbris M, Larsson P, Nikamo P, Wolk K, Kjellman P, Sonkoly E, Eidsmo L, Lindqvist U, Ståhle M. (2021). Long-term outcomes and prognosis in new-onset psoriasis. Jama Dermatology, [Epub ahead of print].
- II. Svedbom, A., Dalen, J., Mamolo, C., Cappelleri, J. C., Mallbris, L., Petersson, I. F., & Ståhle, M. (2015). Increased cause-specific mortality in patients with mild and severe psoriasis: a population-based Swedish register study. Acta dermato-venereologica, 95(7), 809-815.
- III. Svedbom, A., Dalén, J., Mamolo, C., Cappelleri, J. C., Mallbris, L., Petersson, I. F., & Ståhle, M. (2016). Economic burden of psoriasis and potential cost offsets with biologic treatment: a Swedish register analysis. Acta dermato-venereologica, 96(5), 651-657.
- IV. Svedbom, A., Dalen, J., Mamolo, C., Cappelleri, J. C., Petersson, I. F., & Ståhle, M. (2015). Treatment patterns with topicals, traditional systemics and biologics in psoriasis–a Swedish database analysis. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology, 29(2), 215-223.
- V. Svedbom, A., & Ståhle, M. (2020). Real-world comparative effectiveness of adalimumab, etanercept and methotrexate: a Swedish register analysis. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology, 34(3), 525-532.

### SCIENTIFIC PAPERS NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

- Svedbom, A., Nikamo, P., & Ståhle, M. (2020). Interaction between Smoking and HLA-C\* 06: 02 on the Response to Ustekinumab in Psoriasis. The Journal of investigative dermatology, 140(8), 1653-1656.
- II. Pasquali L, Svedbom A, Srivastava A, Rosen E, Lindqvist U, Ståhle M, Pivarcsi A, Sonkoly E. (2020). Circulating micro RNAs in extracellular vesicles as potential biomarkers for psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology, 34(6), 1248-1256.
- III. Svedbom A, Mallbris L, and Ståhle, M. (2021). Risk of respiratory infection in patients with plaque psoriasis. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, [Epub ahead of print].

# CONTENTS

1	INTI	RODUC	CTION	1
	1.1	Psoria	sis	1
		1.1.1	Clinical manifestations and diagnosis	1
		1.1.2	Nosology	3
		1.1.3	Pathogenesis	3
		1.1.4	Epidemiology	4
		1.1.5	Comorbidities	4
		1.1.6	Impact on patients	5
		1.1.7	Treatment	6
	1.2	Obser	vational research	8
		1.2.1	Study design	9
		1.2.2	Populations and sampling	10
		1.2.3	Variables and distributions	11
		1.2.4	Precision and bias	11
2	LITE	ERATU	RE REVIEW	14
	2.1	Clinic	al course of psoriasis	14
	2.2	Cause	-specific mortality	16
	2.3	Treatr	nent patterns	20
	2.4	Econo	mic burden	20
	2.5	Relati	ve effectiveness of adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate	21
3	RES	EARCH	HAIMS	23
4	MA	ΓERIAI	LS AND METHODS	25
	4.1	Study	setting	25
	4.2	Data s	sources	25
		4.2.1	Stockholm Psoriasis Cohort	25
		4.2.2	Prescribed Drug Register	26
		4.2.3	National Patient Register	26
		4.2.4	Cause of Death Register	26
		4.2.5	Total Population Register	26
		4.2.6	Skåne Health Care Register	27
		4.2.7	The Vega register	27
		4.2.8	MIDAS	27
		4.2.9	DermaReg-Pso	
		4.2.10	Data linkage	28
	4.3	Patien	ts	29
	4.4	Outco	mes and covariates	29
		4.4.1	Disease severity	29
		4.4.2	Health related quality of life	30
		4.4.3	Psoriatic arthritis	31
		4.4.4	Attrition and loss to follow-up	31
		4.4.5	Cause-specific mortality	31

		4.4.6	Resources and costs	32
		4.4.7	Treatment events	33
	4.5	Statist	ical methodology	34
		4.5.1	Descriptive statistics	34
		4.5.2	Univariable analysis	34
		4.5.3	Multivariable analysis	34
		4.5.4	Marginal effects estimation	35
		4.5.5	Multilevel analysis	35
		4.5.6	Covariate selection	35
		4.5.7	Recursive partitioning	35
		4.5.8	Bootstrapping	35
		4.5.9	Sensitivity analysis of unmeasured confounders	35
	4.6	Ethica	ll considerations	36
5	RES	ULTS		39
	5.1	Clinic	al course of psoriasis (Study 1)	39
		5.1.1	Cohort and patients characteristics	39
		5.1.2	Disease course	39
		5.1.3	Psoriatic arthritis	40
		5.1.4	Subgroups and prognostic factors	40
		5.1.5	Attrition bias	42
		5.1.6	Impact of early systemic treatment	46
	5.2	Cause	-specific mortality (Study 2)	46
	5.3	Econo	mic burden (Study 3)	47
	5.4	Treatr	nent patterns (Study 4)	48
	5.5	Real-w	world effectiveness of adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate	
		(Study	v 5)	50
6	DIS	CUSSIC	DN	53
	6.1	Metho	odological considerations	53
		6.1.1	Stockholm Psoriasis Cohort (Study 1)	53
		6.1.2	PSOREST (Studies 2, 3 and 4)	55
		6.1.3	DermaReg-Pso (Study 5)	58
7	CON	ICLUS	IONS	61
8	POI	NTS OF	F PERSPECTIVE	63
9	ACK	NOWI	LEDGEMENTS	65
10	REF	ERENC	CES	67

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADA	Adalimumab
BMI	Body Mass Index
CASPAR	Classification Criteria for Psoriatic Arthritis
CCI	Charlson Comorbidity Index
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CDR	Cause of Death Register
CI	Confidence Interval
C-index	Concordance Index
CLT	Central Limit Theorem
DAG	Directed Acyclic Graph
DLQI	Dermatology Life Quality Index
DRG	Diagnosis Related Group
EMR	Electronic Medical Record
EQ-5D 3L	EuroQoL Five Dimensions 3 Levels
ETN	Etanercept
EUR	Euro
GLM	Generalized Linear Model
HCRU	Healthcare Resource Utilization
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HR	Hazard Ratio
HRQoL	Health Related Quality of Life
ICD	International Classification of Disease
IID	Independent and Identically Distributed
IPC	International Psoriasis Council
IQR	Interquartile Range
LOESS	Locally Weighted Regression
MADRS-S	Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale-Self Reported
MS	Multiple Sclerosis
MTX	Methotrexate
NA	Not Applicable
NPR	National Patient Register
OR	Odds ratio
PASE	Psoriatic Arthritis Screening and Evaluation
PASI	Psoriasis Area and Severity Index
PDR	Prescribed Drug Register
PGA	Physician Global Assessment
PH	Proportional Hazard
PRO	Patient Reported Outcome
PsA	Psoriatic Arthritis
PSOREST	Psoriasis Retrospective Study
PUVA	Psoralen and Ultraviolet A
RPA	Recursive Partitioning Analysis
RR	Relative Risk
SD	Standard Deviation
SEK	Swedish Krona
SHCR	Skåne Health Care Register

SPC	Stockholm Psoriasis Cohort
S-PGA	Static Physician Global Assessment
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
TPR	Total Population Register
UK	United Kingdom
USD	US Dollar
UV	Ultraviolet

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 **PSORIASIS**

#### 1.1.1 Clinical manifestations and diagnosis

Psoriasis is an immune-mediated skin disease with a predisposing genetic component (1). The disease exhibits substantial variability in morphology, distribution, and severity (2). Lesions may occur at any site, but most frequently affect the scalp, elbows, knees, forearms, shins and the trunk (1). The disease course is variable (3). It may be chronic with stable lesions or may fluctuate between periods of substantial disease activity and remissions (3). Episodes of increased disease activity may be associated with growth of existing lesions or appearance of new lesions (4).

Psoriasis is primarily a clinical diagnosis ascertained by a combination of features, morphology and configuration of skin lesions (5). The reference standard for diagnosing the disease is a clinical diagnosis made by a dermatologist (5). The agreement on diagnosis of both typical and atypical psoriasis among dermatologists have been reported at 97% (6), indicating high face validity. Nevertheless, other skin disorders may resemble psoriasis and if the diagnosis is uncertain, histopathological analysis of skin biopsies can aid differential diagnosis (5).

Several disease classification systems exist and in 2006, the International Psoriasis Council (IPC) published a simplified classification comprising four main phenotypes based on morphology: plaque psoriasis, guttate psoriasis, pustular psoriasis, and erythrodermic psoriasis. (7)

Plaque psoriasis (**Figure 1A**) is the most common form, affecting approximately 90% of patients with psoriasis. In plaque psoriasis, lesions are generally clearly demarcated red plaques covered by silvery scales. In terms of distribution, plaques may range from few and limited in size to large and widespread, covering a substantial area of the body. The IPC further divided plaque psoriasis into five phenotypes based on lesion morphology and location: flexural, seborrheic, scalp, palm and sole, and follicular psoriasis. (7)

Guttate psoriasis (**Figure 1B**) is characterized by red droplets which may be widespread. Lesions are often located on the trunk, but may appear all over the body. Guttate psoriasis is most common in children, adolescents, and young adults. It is often preceded by a streptococcal infection. Lesions may resolve over three months but may also develop into plaque psoriasis. Guttate lesions may also present in patients with plaque phenotype. (7)

Pustular psoriasis (**Figure 1C**) presents as blisters of non-infectious pus. Blisters may be localized affecting, for example, palms and soles or generalized with dark red patches, congregating into large areas of pus. Pustular psoriasis may occur in patients with plaque phenotype but may also develop in individuals without a history of psoriasis. (7)

Erythrodermic psoriasis is a serious condition (**Figure 1D**) characterized by extensive (covering ninety percent or more of the skin) erythema with a high degree of inflammation and may result in shedding of the skin. The disease may be preceded by plaque psoriasis but can also occur in individuals without a history of psoriasis. (7)



**Figure 1 Main psoriasis phenotypes as defined by the International Psoriasis Council.** Panel A shows plaque psoriasis. Panel B shows guttate psoriasis. Panel C shows pustular psoriasis. Panel D shows erythrodermic psoriasis. Photographs reproduced with permission from the Karolinska University Hospital.

No common pathogenic mechanism for the disease has been established and the different phenotypes are considered variants of the same disease from a morphological point of view. The reason is fourfold: A red and scaly appearance is the most common feature in all manifestations and sponge like pustules is a frequent characteristic; (ii) different manifestations may be contemporaneous; (iii) different manifestations may occur sequentially; and (iv) members of a single family may exhibit different phenotypes. (8)

The manifestations of psoriasis may differ systematically between ethnicities. A survey of American dermatologists indicated that African-American patients had less erythema but more dyspigmentation than white patients (9). Furthermore, small plaques are found be more prevalent in Asian than European patients (10).

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is an inflammatory joint disease common in individuals with psoriasis and typically occurs after the onset of skin disease. The features of PsA are clinically diverse and no laboratory test definitively identifies the disease. Inflammation can involve distal interphalangeal joints, be symmetric or asymmetric, involve only single large joints such as the knee, or be axial, affecting the spine. Symptoms of the disease include pain, stiffness, impaired functioning, and progressive degeneration of the affected joints. In addition, PsA is characterized by painful inflammation in the soft tissues surrounding the joints, enthesitis. The most severe and rare phenotype is arthritis mutilans with destructive inflammation typically in fingers and toes. (11)

The course of PsA is heterogeneous, but is frequently progressive and spontaneous remission is rare (11). The disease is heavily linked to psoriasis and psoriasis is a major factor in the diagnosis of PsA (12). Nevertheless, reflecting differences in genetics, clinical course, and impact of treatment; it is debated whether PsA should be defined as a manifestation of psoriasis or a separate disease and therefore a comorbidity (12).

#### 1.1.2 Nosology

Given the absence of biomarkers and formal diagnostic criteria, presence or absence of psoriasis is arguably a matter of perspective. For example, some researchers have discussed the notion of a preclinical phase of psoriasis (3, 13). In such a perspective, a patient has psoriasis before it has manifested clinically. On the other hand, instances of spontaneous remissions lasting decades have also been reported (14). A key notion may be whether predisposition to clinical manifestations are considered a disease. Such considerations may develop over time (15). For example, osteoporosis, a condition that confers increased risk of fragility fracture, was officially recognized by the WHO as a disease in 2004 and thereby took a large step from being viewed as a natural part of ageing to a recognized pathology (15). For psoriasis, there appears to be no formal agreement on the matter, potentially because risk factors and the clinical course of the disease are insufficiently described, prohibiting development of consensus.

#### 1.1.3 Pathogenesis

Psoriatic lesions result from abnormal differentiation and growth of keratinocytes. The pathogenesis for this process is incompletely understood but reflects upregulation of the cellular immune system, dendritic cells, T cells, and immune-related chemokines and cytokines. The disease has a strong genetic component. (16)

The causative model for psoriasis includes genetic and environmental factors and their interaction; with genetic factors explaining 70% of disease susceptibility (17). Several candidate genes have been identified including the human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-C locus on chromosome six (18). A number of environmental triggers for psoriasis have been reported including smoking, excessive alcohol consumptions, obesity, and stressful life events (19). Infections may also play a role and streptococcal infection often precedes onset of guttate psoriasis (20).

Historically, other, now discarded, theories on the pathogenesis of psoriasis existed. For example, psoriasis was hypothesized to be infectious, and a French researcher reportedly developed lesions after scaring the skin over his deltoid and rubbing in psoriatic scales into the scars: Plaques appeared at the elbows two days after the inoculation and lesions were well-marked after two weeks (21). On the basis of the high serum cholesterol, it was also hypothesized that psoriatic lesions resulted from lipid accumulation in the skin (22). Other hypotheses included that the disease originated from the joints, that it was neuropathic in nature, and that psoriasis was a parasitic disease – a notion that explained clustering of the disease in families, and which was popular in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century (23). James Nevins Hyde, who was among the first to recognize the association between exposure to sunlight and skin cancer, hypothesized that psoriasis was the result of the inverse relationship, i.e. that susceptible individuals developed psoriasis due to lack of light exposure (24).

The strong genetic basis for psoriasis suggests that there is some natural selection to preserve the trait over generations. One hypothesis is that the upregulated innate immunity in patients with psoriasis decreases the risk of certain infections, with scarlet fever (25) and leprosy (26) suggested as candidates.

#### 1.1.4 Epidemiology

A systematic review (27) on the incidence and prevalence of psoriasis found that incidence estimates ranged from 79 to 230 cases per 100,000 person-years; and prevalence estimates ranged from 0.9% to 8.5%. No major differences in incidence or prevalence between men and women were observed. However, the incidence of psoriasis with age may follow a bimodal distribution with peaks observed before and after the fifth decade of life. The occurrence of psoriasis appeared to vary by geographic region, with the disease increasing in frequency with the distance from the equator. Differences between ethnic groups have also been reported with low prevalence found in African Americans compared to Caucasians in the United States. The reasons for the geographical and ethnic variation is unknown but likely reflect both genetic and environmental factors. The reported variation across studies may also reflect differences in study methodology, such as case definition, ascertainment procedures, and sampling schemes. (27)

Comparatively few studies have described long-term trends in the incidence of psoriasis. A US study found that the incidence almost doubled between 1970–74 and 1995–1999 (28). Furthermore, a meta-analysis of five population based cohort studies in Norway found that self-reported prevalence of psoriasis increased with each consecutive survey from 4.8% in 1979-1980 to 11.4% in 2007-2008 (29). However, a Danish population based administrative register study found the incidence to be fluctuating between 2003 and 2012 (30), and a UK study observed a slight decline between 1999 and 2013 (31)

#### 1.1.5 Comorbidities

Even though the first observed association between psoriasis and another disease – diabetes mellitus – was made in 1897 (32), psoriasis was historically viewed as an affliction in the

healthy (21, 33). Nevertheless, the notion that the disease may be systemic and associated with poor health was also entertained (23). Over the years, psoriasis has increasingly been viewed as a systemic inflammatory disorder and has been associated with numerous comorbidities including cardiometabolic disease, inflammatory bowel disease, kidney disease, cancer, infections and mood disorders (32). The excess risk of comorbidities observed in patients with psoriasis appears to be dose-dependent in the sense that patients with severe disease are at higher risk than patients with mild disease (32). The pathogenic mechanisms for the excess comorbidity burden in psoriasis are unknown but may include genetic susceptibility, shared risk factors, and shared inflammatory pathways (32). The underlying mechanisms may differ between comorbid conditions (32).

#### 1.1.6 Impact on patients

Psoriasis is a multifaceted disease. Clinical manifestations reduce health related quality of life (HRQoL), impair the ability to perform daily activities, and affect productivity (2). Furthermore, treatment may be unpleasant, time consuming and carry the risk of severe side effects (34).

The lesions in patients with psoriasis may hurt, itch, bleed, or burn (35). Other manifestations include skin scaling, erythema and swelling (2). These symptoms affect physical HRQoL directly and indirectly through their effect on mobility, vitality, sleep and rest (36).

The visible disfiguration in patients with psoriasis may trigger negative reactions in the patient and others, resulting in impaired emotional functioning, negative body and self-image, psychological distress, and disrupted social relationships (36). In a comparison of the impact on physical and psychological burden of eleven diseases including cancer, ischemic heart disease, and congestive heart failure; only patients with depression or chronic lung disease had lower psychological HRQoL than patients with psoriasis (37).

Psoriasis can affect activities of daily living. For example, clothing, personal hygiene, sporting, and sexual activities were reported to be adversely effected in 27% to 56% of patients with moderate to severe disease (38). In addition, the effects of the disease extend to the professional lives of patients with close to seventy per cent of patients reporting adverse impact in this domain (39).

Psoriasis may affect work productivity. It has been estimated that approximately 35% of absenteeism and 45% of presenteeism in patients with the psoriasis result directly from the disease. (40)

It should also be noted that cultural and socioeconomic factors can influence the experience and even presentation of symptoms (41), potentially making generalization of disease impact between cultures challenging.

### 1.1.7 Treatment

Treatment for psoriasis is as yet non-curative and the objective is to control symptoms (2). In addition to providing recommendations on the management of skin manifestations of the disease, a number of psoriasis treatment guidelines also advice on screening for comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease, metabolic syndrome, and depression (42-45). In fact, it has been suggested that the multifaceted nature of psoriasis requires a holistic approach that is better characterized as management than treatment (46).

Historically, treatment of psoriasis was very heterogeneous and a review from the early 20<sup>th</sup> century state that "[An] enormous number of medicines ... have been used internally or externally for psoriasis" (23). Examples include thyroid glands in minced raw, dried, or liquid extract form (47, 48); subcutaneous injections of arsenic (21), topical mercury (21), and occlusive dressings in the form of vulcanized Indian rubber suits (49).

Today, three treatment modalities exist: topicals; phototherapy; and systemics (2). Treatment choices are individualized and reflect disease severity, lesion characteristics, recalcitrance, comorbidities and preferences of the patient (45). Due to potential serious adverse events, treatment risk-benefit profile is an important factor in clinical decision making (45). Historically, switching, rotating and combining therapies were common as physicians sought to restrict cumulative dose and side effects (50). Frequently used psoriasis treatments are described in terms of mode of administration, frequency of administration, and effectiveness in **Table 1** below.

Table 1 Characteristics of psoriasis treatments.

Treatment	Mode of administration	Frequency of administration during maintenance treatment	Effectiveness
Corticosteroids	Topical	Once or twice per day	60%
Vitamin D derivatives	Topical	Once or twice per day	45%
Calcineurin inhibitors	Topical	Twice per day	30%
UVB	Phototherapy	Three times per week for seven to twelve weeks $^{\scriptscriptstyle \mathrm{b}}$	70%
PUVA	Phototherapy	Two to three times per week for nine to fifteen weeks $^{\circ}$	90%
Acitretin	Oral	Once per day	15%
Cyclosporine	Oral	Twice per day	45%
Methotrexate	IV, IM, SC or oral	Once per week	50%
Apremilast	Oral	Twice per day	30%
Adalimumab	Subcutaneous	Every second week	70%
Etanercept	Subcutaneous	Once or twice per week	50%
Infliximab	Intravenous	Every six to eight weeks	80%
Ustekinumab	Subcutaneous	Every twelve weeks	70%
Secukinumab	Subcutaneous	Every month	80%
Ixekizumab	Subcutaneous	Every four weeks	90% <sup>a</sup>
Brodalumab	Subcutaneous	Every two weeks	90% <sup>a</sup>
Tildrakizumab	Subcutaneous	Every twelve weeks	65% <sup>a</sup>
Guselkumab	Subcutaneous	Every eight weeks	85% <sup>a</sup>
Risankizumab	Subcutaneous	Every twelve weeks	90% <sup>a</sup>
Dimethyl fumarate	Oral	Three times per day	30%ª

Note: Efficacy (Proportion of patients who achieve at least 75% reduction in PASI [PASI75]) were adapted from Bohencke and Schon (1) unless otherwise noted. Mode of administration and frequency during maintenance treatment were obtained from FASS (51) unless otherwise noted. <sup>a</sup> From Sawyer et al 2019 (52); <sup>b</sup> from Singh et al (2016) (53); <sup>c</sup> from Farahnik et al. (2016) (54). IV stands for intravenous, IM stands for intramuscular, and SC stands for subcutaneous.

Swedish treatment guidelines were updated in 2019 (45). The guidelines recognize that treatment choices should be customized to the patient, but patients with limited disease may generally be treated with topical agents. If the disease is more severe, the guidelines stipulate treatment with phototherapy or systemics. Methotrexate is recommended in patients with severe disease. Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) inhibitors are indicated for the same population, albeit as a slightly lower priority. Interleukin inhibitors are recommended for patients who have failed TNF inhibitors, or in whom TNF inhibitors are not relevant alternatives. Apremilast may also be an alternative for this patient population. (45)

Topical treatments include creams, ointments, and foams that are applied to the areas of skin affected by psoriasis (55). They are often effective with relatively benign side-effects profile, albeit skin atrophy is a theoretical concern with long-term use of topical corticosteroids (55). Topicals may also be used as augmentation to other treatments (56). One disadvantage is that their application may be time consuming and have adverse cosmetic properties, resulting in low adherence (57) and almost 50% of first prescriptions for a previously untried topical medication for psoriasis are never collected from the pharmacy (58). The most frequently used topicals for psoriasis are corticosteroids, vitamin D3 analogues, and fixed dose combinations of vitamin D3 analogues and corticosteroids (55). Other topicals such as

retinoids (tazarotene), coal tar, and dithranol are available, but used less frequently given their comparatively burdensome applications (55).

Phototherapy comprise three main types: Broadband ultraviolet (UV) A, Narrowband UVB, and photochemotherapy UVA (PUVA) (59). UVA and UVB refers to different wavelengths of the light: UVA ranges between 320 and 400 nanometers (nm); UVB ranges between 290 and 320 nm, and narrowband UVB has a wave-length around 311 nm (59). The mechanism of action of phototherapy is not completely understood (60).

UVB light is administered in a light box for a brief duration (seconds to minutes) (53). However, preparations and post administration activities result in appointments lasting fifteen to twenty minutes (53). A UVB treatment course generally consists of three sessions per week, with a minimum of twenty-four hours between sessions (53). Each course consists of twenty to 36 sessions (53). Potential long-term safety concerns with UVB include cosmetic skin ageing and skin cancer. However, UVB appears safe with no excess risk of melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancer observed over five years in 3,867 patients (61).

Psoralens, a group of photosensitizing compounds, increase the sensitivity of the skin to UV light and are therefore used with UV light as therapy for psoriasis (54). Psoralens are available as orals or bath salts and are usually administered prior to UVA exposure. Similarly to UVB, the light is administered for a short duration (seconds to minutes) in a light box. However, preparations differ from UVB. If psoralen is administered orally, the patient should ingest a psoralen 75 minutes before the appointment and if bath PUVA is administered the patient should soak in a bathtub with a mixture of hot water and the psoralen for thirty minutes prior to light exposure. PUVA is very effective (**Table 1**) but is associated with long-term increased risk of skin cancer and short-term side effects including burning, itching and nausea. (54)

Systemic treatments for psoriasis comprise traditional small molecule systemics such as methotrexate, acitretin, and cyclosporine; novel small molecule systemics such as apremilast and dimethyl fumarate; and biologics (45). The distinction between small molecules and biologics is that small molecules are generated using chemical synthesis whereas biologics comprise large and complex molecules, generally antibodies, produced by living cells (hence the term biologic) (45). Administration, and effectiveness differ between systemic treatments (**Table 1**), but one common feature for all systemic treatments, except acitretin, is that they have direct immunosuppressive effects. Whilst efficacy differs between systemic treatments, a meta-analysis of safety found no significant differences between systemic treatments for serious adverse events (62). However, the evidence was generally short-term and of low to moderate quality (62).

#### 1.2 OBSERVATIONAL RESEARCH

The studies presented in this thesis are observational and patients are followed over time. This section contextualizes these types of studies and discusses broad methodological issues relevant to them.

### 1.2.1 Study design

The design of a study should reflect the research objective and ethical considerations, but necessarily also reflect resource constraints, and data availability (63). There are numerous categorization schemes for study design (64). For example, studies may be categorized according to objective (e.g. prevention, diagnosis, or treatment), investigative purpose (e.g. descriptive or analytical), use of study results (e.g. basic or applied), data collection (e.g. primary or secondary), or role of investigator (e.g. observational or experimental) (64).

A parsimonious high-level categorization scheme divides studies into three main types: Theoretical, Descriptive, and Analytical (65); with each study type further divided into subcategories (**Figure 2**). Theoretical studies explain or develop understanding of processes that occur for participants; descriptive studies describes outcomes in a group; and analytic studies quantifies the relationship between variables, e.g. treatment and outcome (65). Studies can fall under more than one category (65). For example, baseline characteristics in an observational cohort study may describe the state of a population and therefore have a descriptive purpose, whereas exposure during follow-up may be related to outcomes for an analytic purpose.



Figure 2 Parsimonious classification of study design. Adapted from Glasziou and Heneghan (2009) (65).

The studies in this thesis are observational cohort studies and therefore fall into the highlighted category in **Figure 2**. The studies are observational given that patients are not assigned a specific treatment or exposure as part of the study, and they are cohort studies because patients are identified at one point in time and followed thereafter. However, it should be noted that they have both analytical and descriptive objectives.

Cohort studies may be classified as prospective and retrospective (66). However, whether a cohort study is prospective or retrospective is a question of perspective: Data may be collected prospectively while the analysis of the data (e.g. selection of patients and study design) may be retrospective (66).

#### 1.2.2 Populations and sampling

Knowledge of characteristics and associations in a population informs expectations on members of that population. Obtaining data for an entire population is often impracticable and prohibitively expensive. Therefore, data from a sample (a subset of a population) is used to make inferences (draw conclusions) about the population (67): The findings from the sample is generalized to the population.

A framework for sampling in human studies suggested in Hernan (2016) (68) is shown in Figure 3. In this framework, the population of interest is called target population; and the characteristic of interest is called parameter. The target sample is a defined subset of the population for which the researcher wishes to make inferences. Ideally, the target sample is identified from the target population using a random process. Under random sampling, the estimate of the population parameter is expected to be correct on average and uncertainty around the estimate can be quantified. (68). True random sampling is often difficult and investigators frequently rely on non-random sampling procedures they believe will generate a sample that is representative of the target population (68). However, the actual sample may deviate from the target sample depending on selection mechanisms that are outside the control of the researcher. For example, women may be more likely than men to participate in a research study. In theory, the representativeness of the actual sample to the target sample may be explored quantitatively to assess and improve generalizability (69). However, important information from non-participants are frequently missing, making an informed quantitative assessment of representativeness difficult (69). Similarly, in the absence of external validation, transportability of the parameter estimate to another target population is also uncertain. Furthermore, generalizability and transportability may be problematic when conditions in a study are dissimilar to conditions outside the study, resulting in that participants alter their behavior or are otherwise affected by the study setting (70, 71).

The terminology used in the framework discussed above is not universal. For example, the terms target population, generalizability, and transportability can be referred to as source population, internal validity, and external validity or generalizability, respectively (72).



Figure 3 Framework for participant selection in clinical studies. Adapted from Hernan (2016) (68).

#### 1.2.3 Variables and distributions

Data to estimate population parameters are obtained from a sample in the form of variables. Variable have two defining characteristics: They provide descriptive attributes, and they can vary between observations (73).

Variables vary. Therefore, they may be described by mathematical functions known as probability distributions (74). Probability distribution assigns probabilities for each possible value that a variable may take (74). Based on subject matter knowledge and the observed data for a variable in a sample, the shape and form of the probability distribution may be assumed (75). A probability distribution is defined by its parameters and the observed data on a variable in an actual sample can be used to estimate the parameters of a distribution in the target population (68).

Estimates of target population parameters may be interesting in themselves. In addition, they are often used to make comparisons. For example, one can estimate the probability that the mean of one distribution is equal or larger than a given value, or that the observed probability distributions in two samples are generated by the same underlying probability distribution, e.g. to assess whether the expected outcome observed in one group is different from the expected outcome observed in a second group.

In addition to representativeness of the target population, a key assumption for many procedures for inferential statistics is that the variable of interest is independent and identically distributed. In this context, independent means that observations do not affect each other; and identically distributed means that all values should come from the same distribution (76) – there should be no trends in the data, e.g. patients recruited late in a study should not be systematically different from those recruited early in a study.

Regardless of the probability distribution of the variable in the population, the central limit theorem (CLT) posits that the sampling distribution of the mean (the distribution of means from repeated samples from the population) will be approximately normal, assuming that the sample size is sufficiently large (77). A rule of thumb is that a sample of thirty is sufficiently large for the sampling distribution of the mean to be approximately normal (78). However, this rule of thumb is debated and larger sample sizes may be required for heavily skewed distributions (78).

### 1.2.4 Precision and bias

An important consideration for many descriptive and analytical studies is to estimate the relevant population parameter(s) with as little error as possible (72). Errors in estimation can be classified into two groups: Random and systematic errors (72). Random error affects the precision of the estimate whereas systematic error affects the generalizability from the actual sample to the target population (72).

#### 1.2.4.1 Random errors

Conceptually, random error may reflect (i) chance, or (ii) insufficient knowledge of causes and effects. For example, if an observer knew all the physical forces that affect a coin toss, she should be able to perfectly predict the outcome of the toss. However, in most circumstances, she does not know those forces and therefore the outcome appears random to her. A synthesis of the two views is that random variation is the part of reality we cannot predict. (72)

Given the random variation in a variable, the precision of a parameter estimate is uncertain (72). Assuming that the sample is randomly drawn from the population, statistics can be used to derive measures of this uncertainty. Confidence intervals is a frequently used measure of uncertainty for the parameter estimate. A confidence interval for a mean can be defined as: "If a series of samples are drawn and the mean of each calculated, 95% of the means would be expected to fall within the range of two standard errors above and two below the mean of these means" (79). However, it may be noted that even if the notion of random sampling is correct, confidence intervals may be inaccurate given that other sources of uncertainty, such as measurement error, affect precision (80).

#### 1.2.4.2 Systematic errors

In the Merriam-Webster dictionary, bias is defined as any "tendency which prevents unprejudiced consideration of a question". In research, bias arise when "systematic error [is] introduced into sampling ... by selecting or encouraging one outcome ... over others" (81). Bias is problematic because it may lead to false associations or failure to identify true relationships (82), distorting our understanding and potentially misdirecting our actions (83). Biases are numerous and a review from 2004 provide an explicitly non-exhaustive list of more than sixty biases (84). The terminology used to describe bias differ by fields. For example, the term "confounding by indication" frequently used by epidemiologists refers to the same concept as the term "selection bias", more frequently used by statisticians (85). Several classification systems for biases exist (84). The discussion below adopts a frequently used classification system that groups biases into three categories: Selection bias, information bias and cofounding (86).

Selection bias arises when the actual sample is not representative of the target population on relevant factors (84). Therefore, in descriptive studies, selection bias affects the generalizability of the actual sample to the target population reflecting that the parameter estimates from the actual sample differs from the true parameter in the target population (68). In analytical studies where the objective is to obtain unbiased estimates of relationships between exposure and outcome, selection bias may occur when sample selection is affected by both exposure (or a cause of the exposure) and the outcome (or a cause of the outcome), resulting in absence of comparability between groups being studied (85). Even if groups are comparable, selection bias may affect the estimates of analytical studies for the same reason it

impacts descriptive studies: the actual sample may not be representative of the target population (87).

Information bias can occur when information used in the analysis is measured or recorded erroneously (72). The impact of information bias depends on whether the measurement or classification error is the same or different across exposure and/or outcome. In a descriptive study, systematic measurement errors will result in lack of generalizability from the actual sample to the target population. For analytic studies, the impact of information bias is more complex and depends on whether the measurement errors affect the exposure and/or the outcome and whether it is the same in all study groups (non-differential misclassification) or differs between study groups (differential misclassification). In the common case of two exposure groups and an outcome without measurement error, the expected bias from non-differential misclassification of exposure is towards the null, i.e. the relationship between exposure and outcome will be underestimated. When misclassification is worse than would be expected of a random process, e.g. through inverse coding of a variable during data entry, the bias may be away from the null, but in the opposite direction. (72)

Confounding bias affect analytical studies. Confounding has been defined as the existence of common causes of exposure and outcome (85) and may result in erroneously estimated associations between exposure and outcome (72). However, it is not sufficient that a variable is associated with both exposure and outcome to be a confounder (72). For example, when exposure has an effect on an outcome, a variable that correlates with exposure will also be associated with outcome, even though it does not confound the relationship between exposure and outcome. Therefore, it is important to carefully consider the causal mechanisms when evaluating whether a factor confounds a relationship or not (72).

# 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

### 2.1 CLINICAL COURSE OF PSORIASIS

Textbooks in dermatology and psoriasis describe the clinical course of psoriasis as varying and unpredictable: It is frequently chronic, but may also wax and wane, and spontaneous remissions of varying lengths occur (8, 88-91). Several textbooks also state that understanding of the course is limited due to absence of prospective observational studies that describe the course from onset (8, 88, 90). This notion is also supported by three position papers on the research agenda in psoriasis, which state that prospective observational studies on the course of psoriasis from onset should be a research priority (92, 93).

A review of the literature demonstrate that a number of studies have described the course of psoriasis using cross-sectional or retrospective designs. Outcomes measures, perspectives, and information provided differ among studies, making a coherent overview difficult. Furthermore, the signs and symptoms of psoriasis are affected by treatment and given developments in medicine over time, the validity of old data to the present may be questionable<sup>1</sup>. Another challenge is that the course may be confounded by age. For example, if symptoms improve with age, the disease course will appear benign even though it is driven by ageing rather than disease duration. However, for the individual patient, such as distinction may be of limited consequence.

**Table 2** presents on overview of 14 studies published the last one hundred years that explicitly aimed to describe the course or prognosis of psoriasis. The studies indicate that a minority of patients may achieve sustained remission, even without treatment. For the majority of patients, symptoms are constant, and for a minority severe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Romanus (1945) also noted this point, but did not consider it problematic reflecting his view that treatment was standardized and had changed little since 1878 when chyrsarobin (dithranol/anthralin) was introduced. Thereafter the treatment armamentarium in psoriasis has expanded more rapidly, arguably rendering comparisons with historic data increasingly challenging.

Study	Country	Pheno- type	Method	Index year(s)	From onset	Follow- up (years)	Pat- ients	Outcome
Hippler (1932) (94)	Germany	Na	Chart review and survey	1925-1931	Na	1-7	442	Complete remission for 1-3 years: 5% Intermittent complete remission: 8% No remission: 88%
Hallam (1934) (95)ª	England	Na	Chart review and survey	1919-1925	No	9-15	43	Complete remission since index: 9%
Weinsheimer (1937) (96) <sup>a</sup>	Germany	Na	Chart review and survey	1928-1934	Na	2-9	321	Complete remission since index: 16%
Romanus (1945) (14)	Sweden	Na	Chart review and examination	1892-1922	Subgroup	20+	232	Complete remission since index: 21% Intermittent complete remission: 19% No remission: 60%
Diedy (1951) (97)	Switzerland	Na	Chart review and examination	1906-1935	Na	15-45	49	No symptoms: 17% Mild symptoms: 38% Moderate symptoms: 24% Severe symptoms: 21%
Dorn (1957) (98)	Germany	Na	Chart review and survey	1953-1955	No	2-5	312	Complete remission since discharge: 7% Intermittent mild symptoms: 4% Intermittent moderate symptoms: 30% Intermittent severe symptoms: 14% Constant mild symptoms: 6% Constant moderate symptoms: 25% Constant severe symptoms: 14%
Lomholt (1963) (99)	Faroe Islands	Na	Examination and survey	Na	No	Na	207	Complete remission: 4% Mild symptoms: 32% Minor spread: 37% Major spread:16% Severe onset followed by minor eruptions: 11%
Molin (1973) (100)	Sweden	Na	Chart review and survey	1957-1966	No	4-13	300	Complete remission: 5% Mild: 56% Moderate: 29% Severe: 7% Very severe: 2%
Farber (1974) (101)	USA	Na	Survey	Na	Na	Na	5,355	Ever complete remission without treatment: 39%
Martin (1996) (102)	USA	Guttate	Prospective study	1982	Yes	10+	15	Chronic plaque psoriasis: 33%
Kaur (1997) (103)	India	Na	Survey	Na	Na	Na	1,220	Ever complete remission during a year: 35% Improved with treatment: 61% Never free of disease: 4%
Ferrandiz (2001) (104)	Spain	Na	Survey and clinical examination	Na	Na	Na	1,774	Variable course: 39% Consistent course: 61%
Ko (2006) (105)	South Korea	Guttate	Chart review and survey	1980-2004	Yes	1.5-19	36	Complete remission: 61% Chronic plaque psoriasis: 39%
Sakai (2007) (106)	Japan	Na	Chart review and examination	1991-1996	First diagnosis	5+	169	Improved: 73% Unchanged/Deteriorated: 27%

#### Table 2 Summary of studies describing the clinical course of prognosis of psoriasis.

Note: <sup>a</sup>Quoted from Romanus (1945) (14).

It has been argued that placebo arms in RCTs provide some information on the short-term course of psoriasis without treatment (107). The majority of patients in placebo arms in RCTs experience minor change (107). However, a minority of patients improve drastically: For example, Ambikaibalan (2020) estimated the proportion of placebo treated patients who experienced 75% and 90% improvement in disease severity (measured using the Psoriasis Area and Severity Index [PASI]) at 5%, and 2%, respectively (108). However, it is uncertain whether those improvements would have taken place outside the trial setting. Siemens (1954)<sup>2</sup> had a similar approach and withheld treatment from 19 hospitalized patients with psoriasis for one month (109). Six of the 19 patients showed pronounced improvement by the end of the month (109).

In terms of prognostic factors for the disease course, early onset has been associated with severe disease course (110). However, this finding has not been replicated in all studies (111). Male sex (106), major eruption at onset (99), and high BMI (106) have also been associated severe course. Short disease duration (14), early treatment (33), and limited initial spread (99) have been associated with mild disease course.

### 2.2 CAUSE-SPECIFIC MORTALITY

The direct mortality impact from psoriasis is practically zero (8). However, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies found that psoriasis was associated with excess all-cause mortality (RR: 1.21; 95% CI: 1.14 to 1.28) (112). The excess mortality was dose dependent in the sense that severe psoriasis carried higher risk than mild psoriasis: RR: 1.13 (95% CI: 1.09 to 1.16) for mild disease and RR 1.52 (95% CI: 1.35 to 1.71) for severe disease (112). A number of studies have also explored specific causes of death including cardiovascular mortality (113-117) deaths related to alcohol (118, 119) and smoking (118, 119), suicidality (120), and infection (121).

Studies that systematically explore the components of all-cause mortality in patients with psoriasis compared to the general population have two benefits. Firstly, they can identify the causes of death with the highest absolute and relative risks, informing prevention efforts. Secondly, they may identify hitherto unknown causes of deaths with risks that differ between patients with psoriasis and the general population. However, they are exploratory in nature and multiple testing may result in chance findings.

In addition to the study in this thesis, five studies that systematically estimated the components of all-cause excess mortality in psoriasis were found in the literature (122-126). However, two Danish studies (125, 126) partially included the same population. Therefore, four studies are described in **Table 3**. The studies have some important differences. Firstly, the grouping of causes of death differ. They are grouped either by ICD-10 chapters or by classifications from agencies, such as the US Centers of Disease Control and Prevention

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Quoted from Lomholt (1963).

(CDC). Furthermore, the studies differ in definition of psoriasis, and severity grouping. Nevertheless, commonalities exist: All studies were performed on secondary data assets, using either administrative data or electronic medical records databases, and mean age at study cohort entry was similar across studies, ranging from 47 to 53.

Study	Country	Data source	Psoriasis definition	Severity strata	Severity definition	Mortality Grouping	Patients/ Controls (n)	Deaths patients/ controls (n)	Study years	Mean age (SD)	Confounding control
Abuabra (2010) (122)	UK	EMR database	>=1 diagnosis	No	Treatment	CDC categories	3,603/ 14,330	321/ 862	1987-2002	52 (17)	Age and sex
Lee (2017) (124)	Taiwan	Secondary database	>=3 diagnoses with at least 1 from a dermatologist	No <sup>b</sup>	Na	ICD-10 chapters	80,167/ª	7,198/ª	2001-2012	47 (18)	Age and sex
Skov (2019) (126)	Denmark	Secondary database	>=1 hospital-based diagnosis	No	Na	Sundheds- styrelsen categories	12,160/ 23,936	1,982/ 2,554	1998-2014	48 (19)	Age and sex
Colacon (2020) (123)	Canada	Secondary database	>=1 inpatient or >= 3 outpatient diagnoses	No	Na	ICD-10 chapters	176,858ª	2,524/ª	2016	NA	Age and sex

Table 3 Overview of studies that systematically estimated cause specific excess mortality in patients with psoriasis.

Note: Salaheden et al (2015) (125) also reported cause-specific mortality for Denmark, However, Skov et al (2019) (126) is presented here given that it provides more recent data. <sup>a</sup> No specific control population: age and sex standardized mortality ratios used to estimate excess risk. <sup>b</sup>Only for all-cause mortality, not for specific causes of death.

**Table 4** presents the direction and statistical significance of the associations betweenpsoriasis and specific causes of death presented in the studies. Given that the causes of deathwere grouped differently between the studies, estimates are difficult to compare directly.However, it may be noted that all cohorts reported statistically significant increases incardiovascular mortality, diabetes and metabolic mortality, and cancer mortality.

Cause of death	Abuabra (2010) (122)	Lee (2017) (124)	Skov (2019) (126)	Colaco (2020) (123)
Infection	+*	+*	+*	+
Cancer	+*	+	+*	+*
Diabetes and metabolic disease	+*	+*	+*	+*
Mental and behavioral disorder		-*	+*	+*
Neurological disease	+*	+	+*	+
Cardiovascular disease	+*	+*	+*	+*
Respiratory disease	+*	+	+*	+*
Diseases of the digestive systems / liver disease	+	+*	+*	+*
Kidney / genitourinary disease	+*	+*	+*	+
Injury, poisoning and other external causes	+	_*	+*	
Suicide / Intentional self-harm	+	+*	+*	
Unknown/Missing	+*		+*	
All-cause		+*	+*	+*

Table 4 Summary of results in four studies that systematically estimated cause specific excess mortality in patients with psoriasis.

Note: \*<0.05; "." Indicates that the cause-specific excess mortality was not estimated in the study.

### 2.3 TREATMENT PATTERNS

Treatment patterns is a broad term. For example, it may describe treatment uptake in a population, drug survival or persistence, switching, or adherence. In the current study, it is used as an umbrella term for five events that describe aspects of effectiveness and treatment outcomes: Persistence, switching, augmentation, restart after discontinuation, and insufficient treatment result.

A systematic review on endpoints in real-world effectiveness studies on biologic treatment in psoriasis (127) showed that most real-world studies used either clinical end-points or persistence to estimate effectiveness, but a handful of studies also incorporated switching, dose increase, augmentation, and restarts into outcome definitions (127). Especially persistence, defined as time from start to discontinuation of treatment has been extensively studied, primarily for novel systemics and biologics (128), but also for traditional systemics (129). Most data, especially from Europe, have been derived from clinical registers and retrospective chart reviews, but studies on administrative data using refill patterns have also been published, e.g. in Sbidian et al (2019) (130); and the relative merits of the different approaches have been debated (131, 132).

Data on real-world effectiveness of topicals are scarce, potentially reflecting challenges in operationalizing treatment events given the on-demand nature of topicals. However, the data that do exist indicate that primary persistence is poor with nearly half of new prescriptions never redeemed (58).

### 2.4 ECONOMIC BURDEN

We identified four studies that estimated aspects of economic burden of psoriasis in Sweden.

Ghatnekar et al 2012 (133) presented a cross-sectional survey of societal costs during one month in 164 patients with psoriasis recruited in two Swedish dermatology clinics between September and December 2009. Mean total costs per patient were estimated at EUR 994. Costs were presented stratified by most potent treatment received: For patients whose most potent treatment was topicals, phototherapy, traditional systemics, and biologics, mean costs were estimated at EUR 369, EUR 1,274, EUR 1,085 and EUR 1,709 respectively The study did not observe a clear relationship between costs and clinical severity, measured by PASI, or costs and HRQoL measured by DLQI. (133)

Ekelund et al (2013) (134) enrolled 443 patients with psoriasis based on PASI criteria: 153 with PASI<8, 128 with  $8 \le PASI \le 12$ , and 162 with PASI>12. Mean costs were estimated using a questionnaire with a one year look-back period. The mean annual direct and indirect costs were estimated at EUR 2,169 and 1,230, respectively. Whilst PASI was not a significant cost driver in the study, DLQI, PsA, and systemic treatment were positively and significantly associated with mean annual costs. (134)

Direct and indirect costs for psoriasis in Sweden 2006 and 2009 were presented in Norlin (2015) (135). The study identified patients who had a specialist outpatient visit or inpatient

episode with psoriasis as primary or secondary diagnosis; or dispensed a prescription of a medication with calcipotriol in the relevant years. Direct costs in the study comprised specialist outpatient visits to a Medical Doctor and inpatient treatment of psoriasis (both with a primary diagnosis of psoriasis), and topicals, traditional systemics, and biologics used to treat psoriasis. Indirect costs were estimated with the human capital approach and the proportion of indirect costs attributable to psoriasis estimated by comparing patients with psoriasis to age, sex, and residency matched controls. Total mean direct cost per patient in 2006 and 2009 were estimated at EUR 743, and EUR 855, respectively. Total mean indirect cost per patient in 2006 and 2009 were estimated at EUR 3,509, and EUR 3,010, respectively. In 2009, total mean direct (indirect) costs for patients who were treated with topicals, systemics, and biologics as most potent treatment were estimated at EUR 315 (EUR 2,238), EUR 801 (EUR 5,380), and 12,786 (EUR 10,035), respectively. (135)

Lövendahl et al (2016) (136) estimated mean direct and indirect annual costs in patients with psoriasis and PsA from 2008 to 2011 using the Skåne Health Care Register (SHCR), a population based health care register in the Skåne Region (~1.3 million inhabitants) in Southern Sweden. Patients with psoriasis or PsA were identified using ICD-10 codes in any type of care (primary, specialist outpatient, and inpatient care) between 1998 and 2007. Mean annual costs due to psoriasis and PsA were estimated using two approaches. In the first approach, the mean difference in costs between patients with psoriasis or PsA and age, sex, and residency matched controls without psoriasis or PsA was estimated. In the second approach, only health care resource use and sickness episodes with an ICD-10 code for psoriasis or PsA, and treatments used for the two conditions were considered. Among the 12,562 patients with psoriasis and 2,721 patients with PsA, mean health care costs were estimated at EUR 3,717 and EUR 6,186, respectively. The mean annual incremental direct costs in patients with psoriasis or PsA compared with the controls were estimated at EUR 1,724. Using the second approach, the mean disease specific costs were estimated at EUR 400 for psoriasis and EUR 2,866 for PsA. The mean annual indirect costs were estimated at EUR 4,666 in patients with psoriasis and EUR 10,566 in patients with PsA. The proportions of indirect costs directly attributable to the diseases was estimated at 82% for patients with psoriasis, and 89% for patients with PsA. (136)

# 2.5 RELATIVE EFFECTIVENESS OF ADALIMUMAB, ETANERCEPT, AND METHOTREXATE

The advent of biosimilar adalimumab and etanercept may render biologics viable first line systemic treatment in psoriasis (137). Relative effectiveness of adalimumab and etanercept compared to methotrexate, the most common systemic treatment in current clinical practice, is an important consideration for such a change in treatment paradigm.

Two clinical trials have demonstrated that adalimumab is more effective than methotrexate. The CHAMPION study was a double-blind RCT on 108 patients treated with adalimumab, 110 patients treated with methotrexate, and 53 patients treated with placebo (138). After 16 weeks, the proportion of patients who reached the primary end-point, at least seventy-five percent reduction in PASI from baseline (PASI75), was estimated at 80% for adalimumab. 36% for methotrexate (p<0.001 vs adalimumab), and 20% for placebo (p<0.001 vs adalimumab) (138). In pediatric psoriasis, adalimumab and methotrexate were compared in a double-blind RCT on 75 patients (139). After 16 weeks, a higher proportion of patients treated with adalimumab achieved the co-primary end-point PASI75 compared with patients treated with methotrexate (58% vs 32%; p=0.027) (139). No RCTs have directly compared etanercept to methotrexate. A Cochrane Collaboration Systematic Review and meta-analysis of RCTs comprising 140 studies on a total of 51,749 randomized participants showed that adalimumab and etanercept were more effective than methotrexate in achieving at least ninety percent reduction in PASI from baseline (PASI90) (62).

In terms of real-world data, three studies have estimated and compared the drug survival of adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate. A Spanish study using the BIOBADERM register estimated median drug survival for adalimumab at 1.68 years, etanercept at 1.21 years, and methotrexate at 1.01 years (140). The differences in drug survival between adalimumab and methotrexate, but not between etanercept and methotrexate, were significant at the five percent level (140). Another Spanish prospective observational study, the SAHARAH, enrolled patients with moderate to severe psoriasis treated with systemics (141). Among the 87, 90, and 97 patients treated with adalimumab, etanercept and methotrexate, the 12 (24 months) drug survival was estimated at 68.4% (53.9%), 79.3% (66.3%), and 69.5% (51.6%), respectively (141). No statistical tests were conducted for differences, but the confidence intervals for the drug survival rates were overlapping (141). A retrospective chart review from a single German center comprising 357 patients estimated one year drug survival for adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate at 70%, 60%, and 43% ,respectively (142). No statistical significance tests for these differences were conducted (142).

Three real-world studies have estimated effectiveness of the three treatments using s-PGA and PASI as outcomes. In a US cross-sectional study on patients with plaque psoriasis, the proportion of patients who were clear or almost clear from lesions on adalimumab (n=152), etanercept (n=191) and methotrexate (n=174) were 47.7%, 34.2%, and 23.8%, respectively (143). Both before and after adjusting for confounders, the differences between adalimumab and methotrexate, and etanercept and methotrexate were statistically significant at the five percent level (143). An Italian prospective register study estimated outcomes in patients aged 65 or more treated with adalimumab (n=18), etanercept (n=83), or methotrexate (n=74) (144). At week 12 after treatment initiation, the proportions of patients on adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate who achieved PASI75 were 65%, 64%, and 49%, respectively (144). No tests for the statistical significance of the observed differences were conducted (144). In an Italian prospective study including 43 patients on methotrexate and 58 patients on etanercept, the mean percentage improvements at six months with etanercept and methotrexate were estimated at 75% and 48%, respectively (145).
# **3 RESEARCH AIMS**

There has been considerable advances in the treatment of psoriasis and our understanding of its pathogenesis has improved. Nevertheless, knowledge of the clinical course of psoriasis is limited and comes from retrospective and cross-sectional studies. Therefore, prospectively collected data on the disease course and its predictors holds substantial interest to the medical community at large, especially to clinicians whom patients are likely to see at disease onset. Such data can help practitioners to communicate more accurate expectations of the long-term prognosis and disease impact; and can also help to identify patients who may have the most to gain from frequent follow-up.

Information on cause-specific mortality in psoriasis may identify the most lethal comorbidities in both absolute and relative terms. Furthermore, data on cause-specific mortality stratified by severity may improve our knowledge on the relative importance of comorbidities in the two populations and inform discussion on factors associated with the onset and severity of psoriasis.

Understanding the economic burden of the disease may provide information on subgroups with unmet need, areas for potential improvement, and may contribute with information relevant to setting research agenda and allocating resources. Data on the economic burden of psoriasis in a Swedish setting are scarce and the data that do exist do not include all relevant costs, or do not stratify patients by disease severity.

Many studies have reported on persistence of novel systemic treatment and biologics in psoriasis in Europe. However, other aspects of treatment patterns such as switching and augmentation are less frequently reported. Data on topicals and traditional systemics are also scarce. In addition, few studies have described treatment patterns using population based administrative registers in a European setting. More comprehensive data on treatment patterns, especially for topicals and traditional systemics, may improve accuracy of expectations on treatment and can inform clinical decision-making. With the advent of biosimilars, biologics may be feasible alternatives as first line systemic treatment in moderate-to-severe psoriasis. Improved understanding of the relative effectiveness of adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate is therefore an important step in evaluating the relative merits of biosimilars as first line systemic treatment.

To these ends, the specific objectives of this thesis are to:

- 1. Describe the clinical course of psoriasis and its predictors.
- 2. Estimate cause-specific excess mortality in patients with psoriasis.
- 3. Estimate the healthcare and societal economic burden of psoriasis.
- 4. Describe the real-world treatment patterns in psoriasis.
- 5. Estimate the relative effectiveness of adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate in psoriasis.

# 4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 4.1 STUDY SETTING

Healthcare in Sweden is predominately funded through taxes with universal access and limited co-payment (maximum of SEK 2,250 [approximately EUR 244] for medication per year; and EUR 112 for health care visits) (146, 147). Healthcare provision is decentralized to 21 regions and predominately publically funded (84%) with user fees and private insurance financing 15% and 0.6%, respectively (146). Some health care is provided by the municipalities such as care in special housing and home care (146).

Medical doctors have free prescribing rights and clinical thresholds or applications do not hinder access to psoriasis treatments (148). Systemic treatment of psoriasis is predominately provided by dermatologists (45).

# 4.2 DATA SOURCES

This thesis comprises manuscripts from three studies using different data sources: The Stockholm Psoriasis Cohort (SPC) (Manuscript 1), the Psoriasis REtrospective STudy (PSOREST) (Manuscripts 2, 3, and 4), and DermaReg-Pso (Manuscript 5).

The SPC was a prospective observational study enrolling patients with recent onset psoriasis and controls; PSOREST identified all patients with a diagnosis of psoriasis in Region Skåne and Västra Götaland using administrative databases; and DermaReg-Pso is a register following patients on systemic treatment for psoriasis in Stockholm. Both SPC and PSOREST comprised linkages to other databases.

# 4.2.1 Stockholm Psoriasis Cohort

The Stockholm Psoriasis Cohort (SPC) is a prospective observational study on patients with recent onset psoriasis and population matched controls. Patients above 15 years of age with first onset of psoriasis lesions on non-hairy skin within the last 12 months were eligible for study inclusion.

Patients were mainly recruited from the Stockholm area, Sweden, between 2000 and 2005. Patients were referred from dermatology clinics, general practitioners, school nurses, sexual health centers, and youth clinics. The study was also advertised in daily newspapers and in the magazine and website of the Swedish Psoriasis Association. Individuals were screened via a telephone interview conducted by a dermatologist or a study nurse. Patients who were deemed to fulfil the study inclusion criteria were examined clinically by one of two dermatologists and patients with a convincing diagnosis of psoriasis were included. Individuals with a history of skin symptoms suggesting prior psoriasis were excluded.

Clinical examinations were performed using standardized forms at enrollment and at ten years. The data collected comprised phenotypes and clinical manifestations – both classified according to established terminology (149) – history of psoriasis and potential precipitating

factors including infection, defined as acute symptoms requiring anti-infective treatment within ten days of onset of psoriasis, and stressful life events, defined as events with profound effect on the patients within two months of disease onset. A small number of patients were in remission at the time of the enrollment examination. For these patients, medical records were requested and evaluated to validate the initial diagnosis. Fingernails and toenails were examined to assess nail lesions on all patients, albeit only fingernails were included in the analysis reflecting that the evaluation of toenails may be complicated by fungal infections.

Patients with subjective joint problems were seen by a rheumatologist for comprehensive joint examination. Relevant patients were also seen by a rheumatologist at ten years for a similar joint examination. The rheumatological examinations included evaluation of the presence of arthrosynovitis, tenosynovitis, axial enthesitis, peripheral enthesitis, dactylitis, and tender and swollen joint counts.

Genomic DNA was extracted by standard procedures using peripheral blood samples. Information from the examinations, interviews, and laboratory analyses were complemented with data from medical records, the National Patient Register (NPR), the Prescribed Drug Register (PDR), the Causes of Death Register (CDR), and the Total Population Register (TPR).

### 4.2.2 Prescribed Drug Register

The PDR contains national prescription data since 2005. Data are available on date of filling, ATC-code, name of the drug, and dosage. The register covers all prescription drugs that are dispensed at pharmacies. (150)

### 4.2.3 National Patient Register

The NPR contains data since the 1960s on hospital admissions in Sweden. Available variables include date and length of stay, diagnoses, surgical procedures, and DRG codes. Since 2001, the register also contains data on specialized outpatient care provided by medical doctors but with regional differences in quality. (151)

# 4.2.4 Cause of Death Register

The CDR has data on date of death, underlying, and contributing causes of death for individuals who were registered in Sweden when they died (152). Practically all deaths in Sweden are recorded and 96% of those have a recorded cause of death (152). Using data for death in 1995, a study found 77% agreement between the death certificates and case summaries for the deceased individuals (153).

### 4.2.5 Total Population Register

The Total Population Register (TPR) is an administrative register held by Statistics Sweden with information on sex, birth, death (if applicable), and residency for all subjects resident in Sweden from 1961 (154).

### 4.2.6 Skåne Health Care Register

The SHCR is a regional database with population wide coverage for Region Skåne, (total population of 1.3 million) with information derived from electronic medical records and administrative procedures since 1998 (146). The data transferred to the SHCR constitute the basis for reimbursement and therefore the register should include the vast majority of health care contacts across all types of health care reimbursed by the regions. The proportion of health care contacts assigned a diagnosis differ between levels of care and types of care provider. For physician visits, the proportion of visits in primary care with diagnoses has fluctuated between 80% and 100% since 2005 whereas the corresponding proportion for specialist outpatient care exceeded 90% over the same period. Registered variables include department (e.g. orthopedics, infection, or dermatology), contact type (visit, phone call, e-mail, or letter), type of caregiver, emergency visit (yes/no), procedure codes, DRG codes and reimbursement amount. (146)

### 4.2.7 The Vega register

Similar to SHCR, the Vega register is a regional database with total population coverage (155). For reimbursement purposes, all health care visits in the Region Västra Götaland (1.7 million inhabitants) are registered in VEGA since 2005, with ICD and procedure codes prerequisites for reimbursement. Coverage is practically complete for inpatient, outpatient, and primary care. (155)

### 4.2.8 **MIDAS**

Mikrodata för Analys av Socialförsäkringen (MiDAS) is a database with information on social insurance payments and is held by the Social Insurance Agency (156). Whilst data are available from 1994, changes to the social insurance system have resulted in changes in definitions of variables over time (156).

MiDAS comprise data relating to episodes of social insurance payments. Payment types include sick leave (sickness benefit) and disability pension (sickness compensation, activity compensation, and early retirement pension). If the type of payment or the degree of absence from work changes during an on-going episode, a new episode is registered (156).

Individuals who cannot work due to an illness or symptoms of a temporary character may be paid sickness benefit from the sickness insurance. Eligible for sickness benefit are those who are employed or runs a business, actively looks for a job (registered unemployed), or looks after a child (on parental leave). Sickness benefit can be paid at the level of 25%, 50%, 75% or 100% of a fulltime employment pay (up to a ceiling), depending on the extent of the sick leave. For registered unemployed individuals, business owners, and individuals on parental leave, sickness benefit can be paid from day two of the sick leave. In contrast, employed individuals will first receive sick pay from their employer for a period before receiving sickness benefit. The length of this period is 14 days. (156)

Activity compensation (under 30 years of age) and sickness compensation (over 30 years of age) can be provided to individuals who cannot work full-time due to injury, sickness, or disability. Both sickness and activity compensation are re-evaluated at least every third year, but individuals who receive sickness compensation should be unlikely to return to full-time employment. (156)

### 4.2.9 DermaReg-Pso

DermaReg-Pso is a register enrolling patients who are candidates for systemic treatment in the Stockholm region, Sweden. The register started in 2009 and predominately enrolls patients from the Karolinska University Hospital and a treatment center in Sundbyberg run by the Swedish Psoriasis Association. Clinician and patient reported outcomes (PROs) are collected when the patients visit the clinic and stored in a database. Furthermore, at enrolment, background variables including age at onset, and heredity are captured. All patients provide informed consent prior to enrollment and may opt out from the register at any time. Data collected include the Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI) (157), the Psoriatic Arthritis Screening and Evaluation questionnaire (PASE) (158), the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) (159), the EuroQol 5 Dimension 3 Level questionnaire (EQ-5D 3L) (160), the Montgomery–Åsberg Depression Rating Scale - Self-Rating (MADRS-S) (161), and clinical and laboratory values. Start and stop dates for treatments are reported by the clinician. Discontinuations of a non-permanent nature are also registered.

### 4.2.10 Data linkage

Sweden registries can be linked using personal identification numbers (PINs) specific to each Swedish resident (162).

Both SPC and PSOREST comprise data linkage. For PSOREST, the personal identification numbers for all individuals with at least one diagnosis of psoriasis (L40.X) were extracted from the SHCR and the Vega register. The PINs of the identified patients were sent to Statistics Sweden, which identified controls for each patient based on sex, residency (municipality), and birth year (+/- one year). Statistics Sweden also generated Study IDs (SIDs) linked to the PINs. Subsequently, Statistics Sweden communicated the PINs and SIDs to the participating registries that – based on the PINs – extracted the relevant data, removed the PINs and sent the data to the research group with the SIDs. Consequently, the research group obtained de-identified but linkable patient-level data from all registries. Furthermore, Statistics Sweden provided the research group with a dataset detailing the link between the patient and referents.

For the SPC the process for data linkage was similar to PSOREST. Statistics Sweden identified up to six controls for each study participant based on age (+/-1), sex, and postcode. The matching date was set to the date of enrolment for the patient in the SPC. Data on health care visits were extracted from the NPR instead of SHCR and VEGA.

### 4.3 PATIENTS

The SPC target population was individuals with recent onset psoriasis in Sweden. The target sample comprised individuals, aged 15 years or more, with first onset of psoriasis lesions on non-hairy skin within the last 12 months from the Stockholm Region, Sweden. The actual sample comprised patients from the target sample who volunteered to participate in the study.

The PSOREST identified patients with a diagnosis (primary or subsequent) of psoriasis in primary care, specialist outpatient care, or inpatient care. The target population comprised all individuals with psoriasis in Region Skåne or Västra Götaland. The target sample was patients with a diagnosis of psoriasis from 2001 to 2010 in Region Skåne and from 2005 to 2010 in Region Västra Götaland. The actual sample comprised all patients with a registered diagnosis of psoriasis in the SHCR and VEGA databases during these periods.

The DermaReg-Pso enrolls individuals who are candidates for systemic treatment for psoriasis in Stockholm, Sweden. The majority of patients are treated at two centers: The Karolinska University Hospital and a clinic run by the Swedish Psoriasis Association in Sundbyberg. Patients in DermaReg-Pso may have concomitant PSA, but are predominately treated for the skin component of the disease. The target population in the DermaReg-Pso are patients who are treated with systemics for psoriasis in the Stockholm area Sweden; the target sample includes patients treated at the two participating clinics; and the actual sample comprises patients from the two clinics who agreed to participate in the register.

### 4.4 OUTCOMES AND COVARIATES

### 4.4.1 Disease severity

There are more than forty instruments for assessing the severity of psoriasis (2). The most frequently used severity measure in clinical trials is the PASI, which rates severity on a score ranging from 0 to 72, based on assessment of erythema, infiltration, thickness, scaling and extent of lesions over four body regions (head, trunk, upper limb, and lower limb) (157). The PASI has been criticized for being complicated, non-linear, and having low sensitivity and accuracy (163). Nevertheless , it is frequently used as for validation of other instruments and generally shows good correlation with other physician reported instruments, albeit not with patient reported HRQoL (163).

The Physician Global Assessment (PGA) is an instrument for assessing psoriasis disease severity. There is no standard PGA (164) and the PGA may be used to measure disease severity at given point in time (static) or as change over time (dynamic). There is no agreed formulation of the static PGA (s-PGA), but it generally measures disease severity on a four to seven point ordinal scale, ranging from "clear" to "very severe" (163). The s-PGA correlates well with other physician and patient reported instruments used to assess psoriasis (163). The formulation of the instrument used in the SPC can be found in **Table 5** below.

 Table 5 Static Physician Global Assessment version used in the SPC.

S-PGA score	Interpretation
1	Clear
2	Almost clear
3	Mild
4	Mild to moderate
5	Moderate
6	Severe
7	Very severe

When patients are treated for psoriasis, the underlying disease severity cannot be measured directly using an instrument such as PASI given that the score of the instrument is affected by treatment. Furthermore, in many studies clinical data are missing and therefore treatment (topicals, phototherapy, and systemic treatment) is used to infer disease severity (165). Hospitalization with psoriasis as a main diagnosis has also been used as an indicator of severe disease; e.g. in Ahlehoff et al (2011) (117). The construct underlying this concept is that psoriasis treatment corresponds to the severity of the disease. A patient with mild disease can manage the disease without prescriptions or with topicals only; if the disease is moderate, phototherapy will suffice, and if the disease is severe, systemic treatment or hospitalization are needed to control the disease. This concept assumes that patients are managed optimally, which is not always the case (166). Nevertheless, it has been shown that treatment with topicals and systemics are valid markers for disease severity in psoriasis; with sensitivity and positive predictive values consistent with commonly accepted thresholds for observational research (165).

### 4.4.2 Health related quality of life

The impact of the disease on HRQoL is also a central outcome in psoriasis and has been measured using psoriasis specific, skin specific, and generic HRQoL instruments (167). In clinical trials, the DLQI is the most frequently used HRQoL instrument (167). The DLQI consists of ten domains, nine of them have four alternatives ("Not at all" to "Very much") (159). The tenth domain pertains to impact of skin on work and studying and is rated as a dichotomous domain; with affirmative answers directed to a question with three levels ("Not at all" to "A lot") (159). Eight domains may also be marked as non-relevant (159). The total score ranges from zero to thirty (159). Total DLQI score may be collapsed into five categories to facilitate interpretation (168), see **Table 6**.

Table 6 DLQI categories.		
Total score	Effect on patient's life	
0 – 1	None	
2-5	Small	
6 – 10	Moderate	
11 – 20	Very large	
21 – 30	Extremely large	

Note: Adapted from Hongbo et al (2005) (168).

### 4.4.3 Psoriatic arthritis

In PSOREST PsA was defined by a registered diagnosis of the disease and in DermaReg, patients classified as having PsA had been diagnosed by a rheumatologist. In SPC, at inclusion, the study dermatologist assessed each patient for PsA by taking a medical history and asking for joint or back pain. If the dermatologists reported joint pain, the patient was seen by a rheumatologist and diagnosed according to the criteria presented in Moll and Wright (1973) (169). At the ten year follow-up, relevant patients were also assessed by a rheumatologist according to the Classification for psoriatic arthritis (CASPAR) criteria (170), the current gold standard for classification of PsA. The CASPAR criteria were not developed when SPC was initiated. For statistical analysis, the CASPAR was applied retrospectively for validation of the diagnosis of PsA. The CASPAR criteria include a radiological assessment but x-rays were not available in the SPC. Nevertheless, patients still needed three points on the CASPAR to be classified as having PsA. Not all relevant patients saw the rheumatologist and in some patients the rheumatologist could not make a conclusive diagnosis. In those patients, the dermatologist assessment, medical records, and register data were used to determine PsA status.

# 4.4.4 Attrition and loss to follow-up

To explore the potential impact of loss-to-follow up in Study 1, we compared baseline characteristics between patients who participated in the ten-year clinical examination and those who did not, stratified by onset phenotype. We also compared uptake of topical psoriasis treatment in the two groups. Treatment with topical medication for psoriasis was defined as a dispensed prescription of the following medications within one year of the ten year clinical examination: topical tars (ATC Code: D05AA), antracen derivaties (D05AC), other antipsoriatics for topical use (D05AX), topical corticosteroids (D07), and emollients (D02). Patients who died during follow-up were excluded from these analyses.

### 4.4.5 Cause-specific mortality

When relevant for assessment, all-cause mortality is the most unbiased end-point in clinical research (171). Cause-specific mortality allows for identification of the conditions resulting in death and provides a metric on the comorbidity burden in a patient population. For the study on cause-specific mortality, we identified the 15 leading causes of death according in the US CDC (172) and collapsed those into eight groups and four additional categories (suicide,

accidents, missing causes of death, and all other causes). The resulting categories along with ICD-10 diagnosis codes are presented in **Table 7**.

Cause of death	ICD codes	
Cardiovascular disease	100–109, 111-113, 115, 120–151, 160–169, 110, G45, G46, F01	
Neoplasms	C00–C97, D00-D47	
Diabetes	E10E14	
Chronic lower respiratory disease	J40–J47	
Neurological disease	F00, F02, F03, G00-G44, G47	
Kidney disease	N00–N19, N25–N37	
Infection	A00-A99, B00-B14, B20-B99, J09–J18	
Liver disease	B15-B19, K70-K77	
Suicide	U03, X60–X84, Y87.0	
Accidents	V01–X59, Y85–Y86	
Other causes	Residual (excluding missing causes of death)	

 Table 7 ICD-10 codes for the causes of death groups.

### 4.4.6 Resources and costs

In society, resources are scare and demand for resources needs to be prioritized. This is also true for the health care sector: Available health care resources are insufficient to address all health needs and we have to decide which health needs to prioritize. This scarcity underlies a key concept in economics: The opportunity cost (173). The opportunity cost is the highest benefit foregone by committing a resource to a specific good or service. In other words, the opportunity cost of a specific resource is the benefit that would have been derived from the best alternative use of that resource. This concept of costs differs from financial costs: the price of goods and services. In theory, in a perfect market, the unit cost (price) for a product or service should equate opportunity costs (173). In practice, markets are imperfect but unit costs are used to approximate the opportunity cost (173).

In economics, the concept of costs may be extended beyond goods and services and in health economics, three cost categories are frequently used: Direct, indirect, and intangible costs (174). Direct costs reflect healthcare services and goods; indirect costs reflect to lost production; and intangible costs reflect lost health (174).

Another important aspect of costs is the perspective (175). For example, from the perspective of a patient covered by a health insurance, the costs for an operation may be limited to the copayment. On the other hand, from the insurer perspective, the cost may include not only the operation, but also rehabilitation.

Whilst, costs are difficult to measure and depend on perspective, they are integral to decisionmaking as they inform choices we have to make (173). Costs can also be informative in other ways as they can describe and contextualize the burden of a disease (176). For example, it has been argued that knowledge of the costs of a disease in a population provides important information to decision makers on research funding (176). Arguably, for society as a whole, diseases with higher burden merit more attention than diseases with lower burden. In this thesis, direct costs were estimated for outpatient care, inpatient care, and prescriptions dispensed from pharmacy. Outpatient care costs were estimated by applying unit costs obtained from public payers to outpatient healthcare contacts; costs for inpatient care were derived using Diagnoses Related Group (DRG) points and a cost per DRG point; and costs for medication were estimated using the cost to the patient and payer combined, obtained from the PDR. Indirect costs were estimated using the human capital approach: The observed number of days on sick leave, activity compensation, and sickness compensation were costed at the mean daily gross salary (including employer's contribution) in Sweden.

Given that psoriasis is associated with comorbidities, estimating costs for psoriasis related resource use only would underestimate the costs of the disease. Comparing costs between patients with and without psoriasis may provide a more accurate reflection of the cost burden of the disease. Therefore, the costs of psoriasis in this thesis were estimated as the difference between patients with psoriasis and age- sex-, and residency matched controls.

### 4.4.7 Treatment events

Drug survival and persistence are two terms for the same concept: The length of time from initiation to discontinuation of therapy. In chronic symptomatic disease drug survival is a proxy for successful treatment (177). The underlying notion is that treatment discontinuation results from lack of effectiveness, adverse events, or treatment dissatisfaction. Therefore, longer treatment duration should be associated with better outcomes.

Drug survival is a frequently studied outcome (127), but it is a crude proxy and arguably other treatment events such as dose titration above the label dose, and initiation of augmentation treatment should be added to drug survival to better measure effectiveness. Furthermore, to the extent data on signs and symptoms of the disease are available, these would also give important information on the effectiveness of treatment, and end-points combining drug survival and HRQoL have been explored in psoriasis (178).

Switching is linked to drug survival in the sense that patients who switch treatment will discontinue the original treatment. However, the timing of the switch may reflect the reason for treatment discontinuation: If a treatment switch occurs in close proximity to the treatment discontinuation it is arguably more likely that the original treatment was discontinued due to lack of effectiveness or side effects.

Time from treatment discontinuation to start of new therapy may also be a proxy of unmet need: A short duration between treatment discontinuation and start of a subsequent treatment may indicate that the original treatment was not sufficient or that the disease flared rapidly after treatment discontinuation.

# 4.5 STATISTICAL METHODOLOGY

### 4.5.1 Descriptive statistics

In general, numerical variables that had an approximately normal distribution were described using mean and standard deviation (SD); numerical variables with another distribution were described using median and percentiles (e.g. interquartile range [IQR]); and categorical variables were reported using frequencies and percentages.

# 4.5.2 Univariable analysis

When data could be assumed to be IID and the patient count was sufficiently high, comparisons of means between groups were conducted using t-tests (179) by virtue of the CLT (180). However, in analyses on costs involving groups with fewer than 1,000 subjects, p-values were derived using the bootstrap methods (181).

For categorical variables, comparisons between groups were conducted using chi-square tests (182) or McNemar's test (183) as applicable. Confidence intervals for proportions were derived using the exact method (184).

For time-to-event analysis, we used the Kaplan-Meier product limit estimator (185) to estimate the proportion of patients who had experienced (or had not experienced) an event at a given observation time.

Relative risks of a dichotomous outcome given a covariate were derived using binomial generalized linear models (GLM) with a log-link (186).

Locally weighted regression (LOESS) is a non-parametric regression model (187). LOESS was used to fit smooth curves of PASI and DLQI by treatment and years since treatment initiation.

# 4.5.3 Multivariable analysis

The form of regression model was chosen by selecting models with appropriate family and link functions: Binomial family and logistic link (logistic regression) for binary outcomes; gamma family and identity link for costs; and Gaussian family and identity link (linear regression) for DLQI and PASI. For time-to-event data, Cox proportional hazard models (PH) (188) were fit and the PH assumption tested using at least one of three methods: visual inspection of LOESS curves for Schoenfeld residuals, visual inspection of log(–log) plot of the survival distribution functions, or inclusion of interactions between observation time and covariates in the models. (189) The PH assumption was valid unless otherwise noted.

In Study 1, Firth type penalization (190) was implemented to reduce sparse data bias (191) in Cox PH and logistic regression when there were fewer than ten events per covariate.

### 4.5.4 Marginal effects estimation

In Study 5, we estimated the marginal effect of each treatment (192). The marginal effect of a treatment is the average outcome expected if all patients had received that treatment (192). The marginal effects were estimated using the predictions from the multivariable regression models.

# 4.5.5 Multilevel analysis

For univariable and multivariable analysis, when the same patients had multiple observations in the same model, data were not considered IID and therefore random intercept regression models (193) were fit. Linear regression was implemented for continuous outcomes; logistic regression for binomial outcomes, ordinal logistic regression for ordered categorical outcomes with more than two levels; and shared frailty models for time-to-event data (193).

# 4.5.6 Covariate selection

The objectives of regression modelling can be descriptive, predictive or exploratory (194). In this thesis, the regression models were mainly fit for explanatory purposes. Therefore, we included covariates that could be assumed to be causally related to both the main covariate of interest and the outcome. In Study 1, the multivariable models were more descriptive in nature and predominately fitted to complement the recursive partitioning analysis. In Studies 2 and 3, the variable selection was conducted informally. In Study 5, variable selection was formalized using Directed Acyclic Graphs (DAGs) (195).

# 4.5.7 Recursive partitioning

Recursive partitioning was implemented using a conditional inference framework with adjustments for multiple testing (196). Variables that have previously been associated with the outcomes were included in the recursive portioning analysis. The apparent discriminative ability of models was estimated using c-indices (197, 198) excluding ties on predictor groups (199).

# 4.5.8 Bootstrapping

Health care cost data may be heavily skewed with many observations at zero and few observations with very high values (200). Therefore, the CLT may not be applicable for modest sample sizes and we implemented bootstrapping to perform inferential tests and derive confidence intervals for strata with fewer than 1,000 patients, as recommended by Desgagné et al (201). P-values were derived using the bootstrap t-statistic and the bias corrected percentile method (181) was implemented to derive 95% confidence intervals.

# 4.5.9 Sensitivity analysis of unmeasured confounders

We explored the potential impact of unmeasured confounders in Study 2 using the approach described in Lin et al (1998) (202). We estimated the relative risks of an unobserved risk factor required to nullify the observed associations given assumptions on prevalence of the

unobserved risk factor in the two groups. We performed this analysis both for the point estimate and for the lower bound of the 95% CI.

# 4.6 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

All studies obtained ethics approval (DNR: 00-448 for SPC, DNR 20101954-315 for PSOREST, and DNR 2018-1080-31 for DermaReg) and each registry holder also approved the study. Hence, the study design, conduct, and plan fulfilled formal ethical requirements.

A common approach to consider ethical matters in biomedical research is grounded in four core principles: beneficence (doing good), non-maleficence (avoiding harm), autonomy, and justice (203). The discussion below focuses on the four principles in the context of the three studies presented in the five constituent papers.

For all studies, one source of beneficence is the knowledge generated by the research. In addition, the SPC and DermaReg-Pso may have benefitted study participants directly. The SPC included a survey, a clinical examination and laboratory analyses. Findings from these may have been used to optimize treatment of psoriasis, or refer study participants to other health care providers as necessary. DermaReg-Pso includes a visualization tool and is used by clinicians and patients to follow disease activity, treatment, and outcomes over time, informing clinical decision-making, thereby benefitting study participants directly. PSOREST is based on secondary data and there were no direct benefits to the participants in the study.

The most direct potential maleficence for the three studies is integrity breach. To address this harm, data were pseudonymized and stored safely with access only to relevant members of the study team in accordance with laws and regulations. Furthermore, no patient identifiable data were published. Another potential harm from the studies is that patients may feel discomfort or distress from the findings. For example, knowing that one's risk of death may be elevated compared to the general population can be disquieting. Therefore, care needs to be taken when communicating the data to patients. Furthermore, it may be argued that the questions asked in SPC and DermaReg could cause distress for patients. In SPC, this challenge was addressed by consulting three patients in the development of the CRFs. In SPC, a blood sample was collected from participants, resulting in physical discomfort and risk of infection. The blood was drawn by trained professionals in a hospital setting using best practices, minimizing discomfort and other risks.

In the SPC and DermaReg, participants provided informed consent that may be withdrawn at any time, arguably fulfilling the principle of autonomy. However, no informed consent was obtained in PSOREST, as this type of research do not require informed consent, partially to avoid identification of participants. However, the vast majority of individuals in Sweden support the use of their medical data for research purposes (204), and it could be argued that data generated from health care consumption belongs to the entity that finances the health care, i.e. the tax payers as a collective.

In SPC and DermaReg, it appears that the probability of benefits and harms of the study are equally distributed among study participants and that the principle of justice is therefore fulfilled. For PSOREST, potential benefits of the study would likely accrue disproportionally in patients with psoriasis relative to the control population. However, the control population may still benefit from improved resource allocation that may result from the study findings.

Following from the discussion above, I consider that potential benefits with the studies outweigh potential harms and that problems with autonomy and justice are limited. Therefore, the studies in this thesis are in good agreement with the four core principles of biomedical research.

# 5 RESULTS

# 5.1 CLINICAL COURSE OF PSORIASIS (STUDY 1)

### 5.1.1 Cohort and patients characteristics

In the SPC, 721 patients were enrolled and eligible for analysis. After ten years, 546 of 686 patients alive completed a questionnaire and 509 (74%) were examined clinically. On average patients were examined six months after disease onset (Median 6 months, IQR: 3-10 months) and the median time from enrollment to the follow-up examination was 9.6 years (IQR: 8.8-10.4).

At onset 542 (75%) had plaque phenotype, 174 (24%) had guttate phenotype, and five (1%) had other phenotypes.

### 5.1.2 Disease course

At the ten year clinical examination, 346 of 389 patients with plaque onset (89%) retained plaque phenotype, 13/389 (3%) had non-plaque phenotype, and 30/389 (8%) were in complete remission. In patients with guttate phenotype at onset, 75/116 (65%) had developed plaque psoriasis, 4/116 (3%) had non-plaque phenotype, and 37 (32%) were in complete remission.

**Figure 4A** and **Figure 4B** present the distribution of disease severity at enrollment (mild, moderate, and severe) and ten-year clinical examination (minimal disease activity, mild, moderate, and severe), along with transitions between strata. Patients with severe plaque psoriasis at onset were more likely than patients with mild or moderate plaque psoriasis to have severe psoriasis at ten years (11/27 [41%] vs 34/362 [9%]; RR=4.3; p<0.001). Similarly, patients with mild plaque psoriasis at onset were more likely than patients with moderate or severe psoriasis to have minimal disease activity at the ten years (59/253 [23%] vs 18/136 [13%]; RR=1.8; p<0.001). A minority of patients with severe guttate psoriasis at onset had severe psoriasis at ten years (4/22 [18%]), albeit a higher proportion than among those with mild or moderate guttate psoriasis at onset (1/94 [1%]).



**Figure 4 Phenotype and disease severity from onset to ten years.** Panels A and B show the distribution of disease severity at onset and ten years in patients with plaque onset (Panel A) and guttate onset (Panel B). Minimal disease activity was defined as a PASI below one without treatment. Mild disease was defined as topical therapy or PASI between one and five, moderate disease was defined as treatment with phototherapy or PASI between five and ten, and severe disease was defined as PASI exceeding ten or treatment with systemics.

# 5.1.3 Psoriatic arthritis

In patients with plaque phenotype at onset, the proportion of patients with PsA grew from 69/389 (18%) at enrolment to 102/389 (26%) at ten years (p<0.001). In patients, with guttate phenotype at onset, the proportion of patients with PsA grew from 5/116 (4%) to 16/116 (14%) (p=0.02).

# 5.1.4 Subgroups and prognostic factors

We identified subgroups with distinctive risks for developing severe psoriasis, clinical remission, and PsA (**Figure 5**). Regarding development of severe disease, patients with nonguttate phenotype whose s-PGA exceeded 3 (mild disease) and had scalp lesions, had the highest cumulative incidence of severe psoriasis 52% (95% CI: 41% to 64%) over 12 years compared to 11% (95% CI: 8% to 14%) in patients with s-PGA at three or less. The probability of clinical remission was 57/116 (49%) in patients with guttate onset psoriasis, 59/177 (33%) in patients with non-guttate psoriasis who were also free from scalp lesions; and 23/216 (11%) in patients with non-guttate onset and scalp lesions. The risk of PsA at ten years was highest among patients with peripheral enthesitis at enrollment 48/82 (59%), compared to 24/97 (25%) in patients with arthralgia but no enthesitis, and 37/304 (12%) in patients without arthralgia. The RPA derived algorithm for severe disease and mild disease both had c-indices of 0.794, and the algorithm for PsA had a c-index of 0.821.



Figure 5 Classification trees and outcomes for the identified groups for severe psoriasis, minimal disease activity at ten years, and psoriatic arthritis. Each node in the classification trees shows the identified splitting factor along with respective outcome: Cumulative incidence of severe psoriasis over 12 years (Panel A); proportions of patients with minimal disease activity at ten years (Panel B); and proportion of patients with Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA) at ten years (Panel C). Panel D (cumulative incidence of severe disease), Panel E (proportion of patients with minimal disease activity at ten years), and Panel F (proportion of patients with PsA at ten years) show outcomes in the groups identified in the recursive partitioning. Please note that in Panel A, two leaf nodes were combined (into Group 2) given that the outcomes in the two node groups were not significantly different; furthermore, 26 patients in Cohort B did not have data on peripheral enthesitis and therefore the number of patients in the classification tree for PsA was 483 (Panel E). Note: Cum. Inc. in panel A stands for cumulative incidence; CI stands for confidence interval; PsA stands for Psoriatic Arthritis.

In addition to the characteristics identified as predictors of severity in the RPA, a number of variables were associated with disease severity. In patients with plaque onset, smoking increased the risk for developing severe disease (HR: 1.70; 95% CI: 1.10 to 2.63) and reduced the probability of achieving minimal disease activity at ten years (OR: 0.41; 95% CI: 0.22 to 0.77). Similarly, male sex was significantly associated with both severe disease (increased risk) and clinical remission at ten years (reduced probability) in univariate

analyses. Furthermore, in multivariate analyses, PsA was significantly associated with severe disease and infection triggered disease was significantly associated with clinical remission at ten years.

# 5.1.5 Attrition bias

There were no marked differences in baseline characteristics between participants and nonparticipants in the ten year clinical examination irrespective of phenotype at onset (**Table 8** and **Table 9**).

Characteristic	сс	LF	p-value	
Age – yr median [range]	42 [30-55]	47 [26-59]	0.144	
Female sex - no. (%)	209/389 (54)	68/121 (56)	0.634	
BMI – mean (SD)	25.4 (4.4)	24.7 (4.5)	0.097	
Smoking - no. (%)	144/389 (37)	39/116 (34)	0.504	
Comorbidity profile - no. (%)				
Diabetes	13/389 (3)	5/121 (3)	0.681	
Hypercholesterolemia	101/389 (26)	29/121 (24)	0.660	
Hypertension	123/389 (32)	51/121 (42)	0.033	
Obesity	52/389 (13)	14/121 (12)	0.607	
Depression	15/389 (4)	7/121 (6)	0.362	
Potential precipitating factors - no. (%)				
Infection	52/389 (13)	21/121 (17)	0.274	
Life crisis	191/389 (49)	52/121 (43)	0.239	
Genetic weight - no. (%)				
First degree	124/389 (32)	48/121 (40)		
Second degree	59/389 (15)	17/121 (14)	0.281	
Higher degree, none, or unknown	206/389 (53)	56/121 (46)		
Disease severity				
PASI – median [range]	2.8 [1.5-4.5]	2.9 [1.4-4.9]	0.780	
s-PGA – median [range]	3 [2-4]	3 [2-4]	0.571	
Joint problems - no. (%)				
Self-reported joint pain	172/389 (44)	50/121 (41)	0.575	
Peripheral enthesitis	73/370 (20)	17/116 (15)	0.220	

 Table 8 Comparison of baseline characteristics in patients with plaque onset who participated in the ten year clinical examination versus patients with plaque onset who were lost to follow-up.

Note: CC – Complete Cases; LF – Lost to Follow-up; PASI – Psoriasis Area and Severity Index; BMI – Body Mass Index; s-PGA – Static Physician Global Assessment. Higher scores on PASI and s-PGA denotes greater disease severity.

Characteristic	СС	LF	p-value	
Age – yr median [range]	32.5 [23-41]	28 [20-38]	0.302	
Female sex - no. (%)	73/116 (63)	33/55 (60)	0.712	
BMI – mean (SD)	24.4 (4.8)	23.3 (3.7)	0.129	
Smoking - no. (%)	45/115 (39)	17/53 (32)	0.379	
Comorbidity profile - no. (%)				
Diabetes	1/116 (1)	1/55 (2)	0.587	
Hypercholesterolemia	12/116 (10)	6/55 (11)	0.911	
Hypertension	18/116 (16)	7/55 (13)	0.630	
Obesity	9/116 (8)	2/55 (4)	0.305	
Depression	3/116 (3)	2/55 (4)	0.703	
Potential precipitating factors- no. (%)				
Infection	90/116 (78)	35/55 (64)	0.055	
Life crisis	34/116 (29)	22/55 (40)	0.164	
Genetic weight - no. (%)				
First degree	40 (34)	24 (44)		
Second degree	13 (11)	8 (15)	0.312	
Higher degree, none, or unknown	63 (54)	23 (42)		
Disease severity				
PASI – median [range]	4.1 [2.6-7.3]	4.1 [2.9-5.2]	0.106	
s-PGA – median [range]	3.5 [3-4]	3 [3-4]	0.216	
Joint problems - no. (%)				
Self-reported joint pain	31/116 (27)	16/55 (29)	0.746	
Peripheral enthesitis	8/109 (7)	8/54 (15)	0.131	

Table 9 Comparison of baseline characteristics in patients with plaque onset who participated in the ten year clinical examination versus patients with guttate onset who were lost to follow-up.

Note: CC – Complete Cases; LF – Lost to Follow-up; PASI – Psoriasis Area and Severity Index; BMI – Body Mass Index; s-PGA – Static Physician Global Assessment. Higher scores on PASI and s-PGA denotes greater disease severity.

There was no statistically significant difference in topical treatment the year before the clinical examination in patients who participated in the follow up compared to those who did not (41% vs 35%; p=0.145, Figure 6).



Figure 6 Uptake of topical treatment stratified by participation status in the ten-year clinical examination.

# 5.1.6 Impact of early systemic treatment

Among the 66 patients who started systemic treatment before the clinical examination at ten years, patients who initiated treatment at or before the enrolment examination had lower probability of severe disease at ten years compared to patients who started systemics subsequently (6/16) [38%] vs 33/50 [65%]) (p=0.044) (**Figure 7**). After adjustment for factors associated with development of severe disease (s-PGA, smoking, PsA, and scalp psoriasis) early systemic intervention was still associated with decreased risk of severe disease at ten years (OR: 0.24; 95% CI: 0.06 to 0.90).



# 5.2 CAUSE-SPECIFIC MORTALITY (STUDY 2)

There were no statistically significant differences in mean age or sex distribution between the patient and control cohorts, reflecting the study design. However, mean CCI was higher in patients than controls: 0.26 in patients with mild disease vs 0.21 in their controls (p<0.001) and 0.36 in patients with severe disease vs 0.25 in their controls (p<0.001).

The estimated number of excess deaths per 1,000 person years was 1.77 in patients with mild disease and 6.76 in patients with severe disease. Among subjects who died, patients with mild psoriasis were on average 0.8 years younger and patients with severe psoriasis 2.6 years younger than corresponding controls. Cardiovascular disease was the most common cause of death in both patients and controls. The proportion of excess all-cause mortality attributable to cardiovascular disease was 48% in patients with mild psoriasis and 33% in patients with severe psoriasis.

The estimated HRs and 95% CIs for all-cause and cause-specific mortality after adjusting for the CCI are presented in Figure 2. After adjusting for CCI, the HRs for patients with mild and

severe psoriasis for all-cause mortality were estimated at 1.15 (95% CI: 1.10 to 1.21), and 1.56 (95% CI: 1.36 to 1.79), respectively. For patients with mild disease, the causes of death with the highest excess point estimates were kidney disease (HR: 2.20, 95% CI: 1.36 to 3.56), and liver disease (HR: 2.00; 95% CI: 1.34 to 2.99). For patients with severe disease, the highest HR point estimates were observed for liver disease 4.26 (95% CI: 1.87 to 9.73), and missing causes of death 3.42 (95% CI: 1.24 to 9.44). The risk of death from neurological disease was statistically significantly lower in patients with mild disease than controls (HR: 0.64; 95% CI: 0.50 to 0.83) and similar in patients with severe disease compared with controls (HR: 0.51; 95% CI: 0.21 to 1.23).

Cause of death	Hazard ratios	for mild psoriasis (95%CI)	Hazard ratios	for severe psoriasis (95%CI)
Liver disease	, <del>-•</del>	2.00 (1.34-2.99)		4.26 (1.87-9.73)
Missing	+•	1.21 (0.77-1.89)		• 3.42 (1.24-9.44)
Other causes	+	1.12 (0.97-1.29)	· · · ·	2.25 (1.59–3.19)
Diabetes mellitus	+	0.99 (0.72-1.37)	+ •	2.16 (0.87-5.36)
Kidney disease	¦ →	2.20 (1.36-3.56)		1.87 (0.48-7.28)
Cardiovascular disease	•	1.18 (1.09-1.28)		1.52 (1.21-1.92)
Neoplasm	+	1.02 (0.93-1.12)		1.32 (1.03-1.69)
Accidents	- <u>i</u> e	1.20 (0.84-1.72)		1.26 (0.46-3.44)
Severe infection		1.41 (1.11-1.79)		1.16 (0.54-2.46)
Suicide	-ie	1.28 (0.83-1.97)	_ <b>.</b>	0.99 (0.28-3.58)
CLRD		1.36 (1.07-1.74)		0.66 (0.28-1.58)
Neurological disease	+	0.64 (0.50-0.83)	۰.	0.51 (0.21-1.23)
All-cause mortality	•	1.15 (1.10–1.21)	+	1.56 (1.36–1.79)
0.2	25 1.00 1.75 2.50	3.25 4.00 4.75	25 1.00 1.75 2.50	3.25 4.00 4.75

Figure 8 Estimated hazard ratios for specific causes of death and all-cause mortality among patients with mild and severe psoriasis compared with controls controlling for comorbidities.

# 5.3 ECONOMIC BURDEN (STUDY 3)

Reflecting the matched study design, differences in sex and age between patients and controls were small. However, comorbidity burden measured using CCI was higher in all severity strata (p<0.01).

Patients had higher total HCRU costs than controls after adjusting for CCI: USD 3,555 versus USD 2,190 (p<0.001). The mean difference in total HCRU costs (USD) adjusted for CCI between patients stratified by most potent treatment class (none, topical, phototherapy, systemic, biologic, and hospitalization) and controls were estimated at 326 (95% CI: 243 to 409), 1,203 (95% CI: 1,031 to 1,375), 2,816 (95% CI: 2,222 to 3,410), 1,845 (95% CI: 1,422 to 2,269), 17,246 (95% CI: 16,416 to 18,076), and 16,947 (95% CI: 13,813 to 20,082), respectively.

Patients also had higher indirect costs than controls after adjusting for the CCI: USD 9,898 versus USD 6,579 (p < 0.001). The difference in mean total indirect costs (USD) adjusted for the CCI between patients stratified by most potent treatment class (none, topical,

phototherapy, systemic, biologic, and hospitalization) and controls were estimated at 1,781 (95% CI: 1,395 to 2,168), 3,697 (95% CI: 2,973 to 4,421), 1,844 (95% CI: 424 to 3,264), 4,523 (95% CI: 2,912 to 6,133), 7,874 (95% CI: 5,482 to 10,265), and 18,935 (95% CI: 2,494 to 35,376), respectively.

Among the 121 patients persistent with biologic treatment for at least 12 months, mean costs of the biologics during the 12 months period were estimated at USD 23,293 (95% CI 22,372 to 24,199). To estimate potential cost offsets with biologics, three counterfactual scenarios on the cost development in the absence of biologic initiation were explored. The first scenario was that costs would been the same as the 12 month period prior to treatment initiation. The second scenario was that costs would have been constant at the level observed the penultimate month before treatment start. The third scenario was that costs would have been constant at the level observed the final month before treatment start. In the first scenario the 12 months direct and indirect costs offsets were estimated at USD 1,135 (95% CI 328 to 2,050) and 774 (95% CI: -535 to 2,019), respectively. In the second scenario the direct and indirect costs offsets were estimated at USD 1,944 (95% CI: 587 to 3,749) and 1,875 (95% CI: 188 to 3,650), respectively. In the third scenario the direct and indirect cost offsets were estimated at USD 1,794 (95% CI 537 to 3,377), respectively.

### 5.4 TREATMENT PATTERNS (STUDY 4)

The cumulative incidences of treatment discontinuation at one year with topicals, systemics, and biologics were estimated at 88%, 48%, and 43%, respectively (**Figure 9, Panel A**). The cumulative incidence of any treatment event (discontinuation, switch, or augmentation) at one year with topicals, systemics, and biologics were estimated at 93%, 72%, and 75%, respectively (**Figure 9, Panel B**). Over the observation period, the rate of treatment discontinuation was lower with biologics than systemics (p=0.044), whereas overall treatment event rate was higher with biologics than systemics (p=0.003).

For biologics, the cumulative incidences of insufficient treatment results within twelve and 24 months of treatment start were estimated at 29% and 41% respectively (**Figure 9, Panel C**).

Within one year of having discontinued treatment, the cumulative incidence of starting a new treatment was 49% for topicals, 61% for systemics, and 80% biologics (**Figure 9, Panel D**). The proportion who restarted the same treatments they discounted was estimated at 53% for topicals, 35% for systemics, and 39% for biologics, respectively.



**Figure 9 Kaplan Meier Product Limit Estimators Plots.** Panel A presents estimated time to treatment discontinuation. Panel B presents estimated time to first treatment event (discontinuation, switch, and augmentation). Panel C presents estimated time to insufficient treatment result with biologics; and panel D presents estimated time to restart after treatment discontinuation.

# 5.5 REAL-WORLD EFFECTIVENESS OF ADALIMUMAB, ETANERCEPT, AND METHOTREXATE (STUDY 5)

In total, 727 treatment episodes with adalimumab, etanercept, and methotrexate in 524 patients were analyzed. Mean age (SD) in the cohort was 48.3 (15.6) years, mean BMI was 27.4 (5.1), 326 patients (62%) were male, 180 (34%) had PsA, and 159/516 (31%) smoked.

The drug survival for ADA, ETN, and MTX are presented in **Figure 10**. In the unadjusted model, no statistically significant difference between ADA and MTX was found (HR: 0.80; 95% CI: 0.62 to 1.04), whereas ETN had worse drug survival than MTX (HR: 1.56; 95% CI: 1.25 to 1.95). In the analyses adjusted for covariates, ADA had higher drug survival than MTX (HR: 0.67; 95% CI: 0.51 to 0.88), whereas no statistically significant difference between ETN and MTX was found (HR 1.23; 95% CI: 0.97 to 1.56).

**Figure 11** presents LOESS plots of disease severity measured as PASI and DLQI during treatment with ADA, ETN and MTX. In regression models adjusting for confounders, ADA had lower mean PASI (-2.0; 95% CI: -2.6 to -1.5) and lower mean DLQI (-0.9; 95% CI: -1.5 to -0.3) than patients on MTX during maintenance treatment. Using the same regression framework to compare ETN to MTX, ETN had lower mean PASI during maintenance treatment (-0.7; 95% CI: -1.2 to -0.2) whereas there was no statistically significant difference in mean DLQI between the treatments (- 0.5; 95% CI: -1.1 to 0.1).

In analysis of marginal mean PASI and DLQI, predicted mean PASI during maintenance treatment with ADA, ETN, and MTX were 2.9 (95% CI: 2.5 to 3.3), 4.2 (95% CI: 3.8 to 4.6), and 4.9 (95% CI: 4.6 to 5.3), respectively. The predicted mean DLQI with ADA, ETN, and MTX were 3.8 (95% CI: 3.3 to 4.4), 4.3 (95% CI: 3.7 to 4.8), and 4.8 (95% CI: 4.3 to 5.2), respectively.



Figure 10 Drug survival in patients with moderate to severe psoriasis. The figure shows time to treatment discontinuation with methotrexate, etanercept, and adalimumab in DermaReg.



**Figure 11 LOESS curves for PASI and DLQI.** The figures present LOESS curves for PASI (Panel A) and DLQI (Panel B) from treatment initiation to treatment discontinuation stratified by treatment.

# **6 DISCUSSION**

### 6.1 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

### 6.1.1 Stockholm Psoriasis Cohort (Study 1)

#### 6.1.1.1 Selection bias

The target population in the SPC was patients with incident psoriasis in Sweden. The target sample was patients fifteen years or older with first onset of psoriasis within the last twelve months on non-hairy skin. The actual sample was the 721 patients, predominately from the Stockholm area, Sweden, with first recalled onset of psoriasis within the last twelve months on non-hairy skin who enrolled in the study. Furthermore, sex-, age-, and postcode-matched controls were enrolled into the study.

The SPC had a broad recruitment strategy to obtain a representative sample of patients with new onset psoriasis. However, the actual sample was not randomly selected and patients were required to provide informed consent, therefore the actual sample is likely systematically different from the target sample. In particular, patients with limited lesions and frail patients may be underrepresented in the study.

The SPC was a long-term prospective observational study and is susceptible to attrition bias – a type of selection bias in which those who complete the study are systematically different from those who do not. Among the 686 patients alive at ten years, 546 (80%) completed a questionnaire and 509 (74%) were also examined clinically. Registry data allowed for virtually complete follow-up of all patients in terms of filled prescriptions, specialist outpatient visits, and inpatient care. A comparison of filled prescriptions for topicals used to treat psoriasis in patients who participated in the ten year clinical examination compared to those who did not, found that treatment uptake was similar between the two groups. Finally, baseline characteristics were similar between those who completed the study and those who did not. Taken together these data suggest that attrition bias should be limited. However, it is impossible to rule out the risk of attrition bias completely as full data were not observed for those who did not complete the study.

#### 6.1.1.2 Information bias:

Two dermatologists specializing in psoriasis diagnosed all patients in the SPC at enrollment, minimizing misclassification of exposure. History of skin lesions were elicited from the patients and it is possible that some patients may have forgotten about prior lesions or failed to notice the lesions when they occurred. Therefore, some patients defined as having recent onset psoriasis may have had prevalent disease. Patients were enrolled within one year of disease onset. Therefore, recall bias for factors associated with disease onset may exist. Furthermore, the majority of patients were treated between onset and the enrollment, making direct assessment of underlying disease severity using instruments such as PASI or s-PGA challenging. For Study 1, the only information related to the onset elicited from patients were stressful life events and infections requiring antibacterial or antiviral treatment; two types of events that should be easy to recall.

The two main outcomes were skin disease severity and PsA. The true disease severity of skin psoriasis is confounded by treatment. Therefore, we defined disease severity as a composite end-point comprising PASI and treatment. The composite end-point is unlikely to be a perfect measure of actual disease severity. Furthermore, PASI was measured at up to three examinations and it is possible that some patients had severe disease that was not observed during clinical examination and was not treated with systemics. Some treatments for psoriasis may also be used in other indications, most notably PsA. To mitigate this potential misclassification bias, medical records were screened, and register data examined when medical records were inconclusive.

Psoriatic arthritis may be susceptible to misclassification bias. It is a clinical diagnosis and the CASPAR criteria, developed for classification of PsA in patients in a rheumatology setting, may be less appropriate in a dermatology setting. In addition, one of the CASPAR criteria – juxtaarticular new bone formation on a radiograph – was not available in the SPC. However, in patients with inflammatory articular joint disease, current psoriasis and lack of rheumatoid factor are sufficient to classify patients as having PsA. At enrollment examination, all patients with inflammatory joint disease had current psoriasis lesions, and few were rheumatoid factor positive, indicating that radiographic data would have limited impact on the prevalence of PsA. At the ten year clinical examination, the PsA classification was also made using the CASPAR criteria and for patients in which the examination was inconclusive, medical records and registry data were consulted for classification.

# 6.1.1.3 Confounding

Study 1 was mainly descriptive in nature and multivariable regression was used to isolate potential predictors, rather than establish causality. However, the analysis of the impact of systemic treatment on disease severity at ten years was analytical and there may be residual confounding in the analysis.

# 6.1.1.4 Statistical considerations.

We evaluated the discriminatory power of the subgroups with differential risks for severe disease, minimal disease activity, and PsA using c-indices (197, 198). The c-indices were estimated based on the sample used to develop the algorithms and therefore likely overestimates the discriminative power of the subgroups (205). Internal validation using bootstrap techniques or external validation in another cohort would be more informative (205).

# 6.1.2 PSOREST (Studies 2, 3 and 4)

### 6.1.2.1 Selection bias

The target population in the PSOREST study was all individuals with psoriasis in Region Skåne and Västra Götaland. The target sample comprised all patients with diagnosed psoriasis between 2001 and 2010 in Region Skåne and between 2005 and 2010 in Västra Götaland. The actual sample comprised all patients with a registered diagnosis of psoriasis in the two regions during the relevant periods. The study also included sex-, age-, and residency matched controls without a diagnosis of psoriasis.

One strength of PSOREST is the population based approach: All patients with a registered diagnosis of psoriasis in the Skåne and Västra Götaland regions within the relevant periods were included in the study. Therefore, the actual sample should be close to the target sample. Furthermore, healthcare in Sweden has universal access and is mainly funded with taxes. Patients are generally able to consume the health care they perceive they need and the target sample should be close to the target population. However, three caveats on patient selection should be noted. First, patients with psoriasis that did not come to clinical attention were not identified in the study. Second, visits to some private practitioners in Region Skåne did not have a diagnosis code (146). Third, we had a prevalent cohort design, only enrolling patients who survived and had a psoriasis diagnosis from 2001 in Region Skåne and from 2005 in Västra Götaland.

Among the three limitations, the most problematic from a selection perspective is probably the exclusion of patients who have not sought clinical attention for their disease. It seems reasonable that the majority of individuals with psoriasis who do not have health care contacts have mild disease. Hence, the target sample may be biased towards severe patients.

The underreporting of diagnoses from private practitioners in Region Skåne may also bias the sample towards severe patients, reflecting that patients treated exclusively in a primary care setting may have comparatively mild disease on average.

The prevalent cohort design may be problematic in the study on cause-specific mortality. If patients with incident disease have a spike in mortality, we would not capture that spike as some of the most vulnerable patients would have died before study start. However, psoriasis is hypothesized to be associated with cumulative inflammatory burden (206), arguably resulting in increased relative risk of mortality with disease duration. A related source of selection bias is that that severely ill patients may not get a diagnosis of psoriasis even though they have the disease, biasing the psoriasis cohort to a comparatively healthy population, at least close to first registered diagnosis.

For Study 4, treatment is the exposure of interest. Medications administered at a clinic may be obtained directly by the hospital and therefore not be registered in the PDR (150). This selection bias should be limited as 98-99% of ETN and ADA doses are channeled to

pharmacies (207). It is unlikely that other subcutaneous injections, orals, or topicals would be handled differently.

### 6.1.2.2 Information bias: Measurement error in exposure

The main source of misclassification bias for patient selection in PSOREST is that all patients in the study were not diagnosed by dermatologists, the gold-standard for a psoriasis diagnosis (5). However, primary care physicians have a diagnostic accuracy of 80% for typical and atypical psoriasis (6). Given that most patients by definition are typical, diagnostic accuracy should be higher on average. Furthermore, the SHCR has good positive predictive value for a psoriasis diagnosis with EMRs used as gold-standard (208). Misclassification of psoriasis is likely to be limited and mainly affect patients with mild disease.

The problem of misclassification of patients with psoriasis as controls is likely limited reflecting that controls are sampled from the general population, and misclassified patients with psoriasis would be included pro rata from the general population.

In Study 4, the exposure is treatment. The PDR does not have a structured variable (e.g. ICD-10 code) for the indication of the prescription (150) and the relevant medications may have been used for other indications. This potential bias is likely largest for topicals, as we did not implement any restrictions and therefore some patients may have used the treatments for other indications. For traditional systemics and biologics, we implemented an algorithm based on diagnoses, clinic, and prescriber specialty. Even after application of the algorithm, misclassification may still exist. Theoretically, the algorithm should decrease sensitivity and increase specificity. To the extent outcomes are less variable within an indication than between indications, the algorithms should improve overall precision of the estimates.

### 6.1.2.3 Information bias: Measurement error in outcome

In terms of measurement error, a strength is that the data used for outcomes in Studies 2 to 4, i.e. filled prescribed drugs, procedure codes, health care contacts, and cause-specific mortality are available for practically all patients. However, a number of important limitations need to be noted in terms of outcome assessment.

Study 4 considered four outcomes: persistence, any treatment event (composite of persistence, switch, and augmentation), treatment restart, and failure of biologic treatment. All outcomes were derived using prescriptions and procedure codes and contextual data are very limited. For example, the reason for treatment discontinuation is not noted. Therefore, patients who take a treatment holiday may be classified as having discontinued treatment. Furthermore, we do not know if patients actually consumed the filled prescriptions or not. In addition, not all relevant outcomes may be included. For example, treatment with infliximab or phototherapy that is not reimbursed would not be covered in the registers. The net effect on persistence from measurement error in outcome is difficult to assess: Treatment holidays may result in underestimation of persistence, whereas filled – but not consumed – prescriptions would overestimate persistence. Augmentation, switching, and failure of biologic treatment

may be biased downwards, reflecting missing outcome data on infliximab and home phototherapy.

For Study 2, the outcome is cause-specific mortality. Virtually all deaths are captured in the CDR (152) but the identification of the underlying cause is a complex and partially subjective process. The quality of the causes of deaths in the CDR have not been systematically reviewed on deaths occurring later than 1995 (152). The misclassification between patients and controls is likely non-differential, biasing estimates toward the null.

For Study 3, the outcomes were direct and indirect costs and a number of limitations should be noted. Firstly, it is uncertain whether the costs used in the analysis reflect the economic value of the products and services. Secondly, some relevant resource use may not have been captured, e.g. over the counter prescriptions and home-based phototherapy. Thirdly, we compared costs in individuals with and without psoriasis and some of the observed differences may not result from psoriasis or attributable comorbidities, but may reflect increased detection of comorbid diseases during health care contacts for psoriasis. In terms of indirect costs, the human capital approach was used to estimate the value of lost production and this method has been criticized for overestimating indirect costs (209). Another consideration for indirect costs is that most sick leave episodes shorter than 14 days are not recorded in MiDAS (156), potentially resulting in biased cost estimates: For example, a reduction of a sick leave episode by one day from 14 to 13 would be estimated as a reduction of 14 days. The net impact of measurement error in costs is difficult to assess. However, the estimated cost difference between patients with and without psoriasis is difficult to attribute directly to psoriasis. Using data from SHCR, Löfvendahl et al (2017) (136) found that psoriasis accounted for 7% of the difference in health care costs, 26% of the difference in drug costs, and 82% of the difference in indirect costs observed between patients with psoriasis and controls.

### 6.1.2.4 Confounding

The treatment patterns study was mainly descriptive whereas the studies on cause-specific mortality and economic burden were analytical. Therefore, confounding is a potential source of bias is the two latter studies. Two main limitations exist. Firstly, we did not use a formal framework to identify relevant confounders, such as DAGs. Secondly, we did not have information on possible confounders including obesity, smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, and exercise; factors that may be causally related to psoriasis, excess mortality, and increased health care consumption.

The prevalent cohort design may also be problematic in terms of blocking of the causal pathway: psoriasis may impair health (for which CCI is a proxy in this study) and the CCI may therefore block the causal pathway from psoriasis to death. For example, psoriasis has been linked to myocardial infarction (32). Therefore, if a patient suffers a myocardial infarction causally linked to her psoriasis prior to study inclusion, adjusting for the CCI

(which includes myocardial infarction) would falsely attenuate the association between psoriasis and death.

### 6.1.2.5 Statistical considerations.

A number of statistical considerations should also be noted.

In Study 4, the same patients were included multiple times in the same cohort, violating the assumption of independence between observations. Therefore, the confidence intervals presented in the analysis may not have the stated coverage and p-values may be erroneous.

For Study 2, three limitations may be noted. The non-proportionality of the PH assumption may be problematic, but the impact should be limited given that the point estimates of HR in models starting one year into the follow-up were similar to the HRs in the base case models. Furthermore, given that we evaluated specific causes of death we censored patients who died from other causes. Whilst this assumption disregards competing risks, it is still valid when the objective is to evaluate whether a factor, such as a disease, is relevant from a biological perspective (210, 211). Finally, there were few deaths from some causes in the analysis of patients with severe disease, resulting in a potential spare data bias for certain outcomes, biasing the HR point estimate from the null (191).

In the analysis of costs in Study 3, we fitted GLMs with an identify link. Therefore, the coefficients in the in the models are additive and it has been argued that costs should be modelled using a log-link instead (212) and, in theory, the identify link may produce predictions of costs below zero. However, the difference between identify link and log-link in GLM models of costs are minor in models with few covariates (213) and we chose the identify link for ease of interpretation.

# 6.1.2.6 Transportability

Transportability of the findings are uncertain. Firstly, the data come from two regions in Sweden and there may be significant variation in treatment within (214) and between countries (215). Secondly, the treatment armamentarium for moderate-to-severe psoriasis have expanded substantially in recent years and treatment goals have changed (216). Thirdly, the health care delivery and practice may differ between settings. Furthermore, relative measures have better transportability than absolute measures (217). Therefore, the findings on the impact of psoriasis on relative cause-specific mortality arguably have higher transportability than the findings on treatment patterns and economic burden; both which may be more difficult to extrapolate in time and space.

# 6.1.3 DermaReg-Pso (Study 5)

### 6.1.3.1 Selection bias

The target population was all individuals treated with systemics for psoriasis in Region Stockholm. The target sample comprised all patients treated with systemics for psoriasis at
the Karolinska Sjukhuset and a treatment center in Sundbyberg, Stockholm run by the Swedish Psoriasis Association; and the actual sample comprised all patients registered in DermaReg-Pso at the two treatment centers.

DermaReg-Pso enrolls patients from the two treatment centers with the highest volume of patients treated with systemics for psoriasis in Sweden. Whilst this may be considered a strength given that clinicians in these clinics should be experienced in diagnosis, treatment, and evaluation of psoriasis, it may systematically bias the target sample to more difficult patients. Furthermore, the register requires informed consent, and some patients opt out from the register, resulting in potential for systematic differences between the actual sample and the target sample. The impact of this potential bias is difficult to examine without data on the non-participating patients.

#### 6.1.3.2 Information bias

There may be information bias in exposure, outcome and covariates. Firstly, the clinician reports treatment and it is not certain that patients take their medications; therefore, there may be misclassification in exposure. Secondly, effectiveness in psoriasis is a multi-faceted concept comprising clinical effectiveness, adverse events, HRQoL, and treatment satisfaction; and it is not certain that the end-points in the study adequately measure these constructs, resulting in potential misclassification of outcome. Thirdly, covariates may be measured with imprecision. For example, given the lack of washout prior to treatment initiation, disease severity prior to treatment initiation may not be an adequate marker for disease severity. Fourthly, bias may arise if follow-up differs systematically among the three treatments. We addressed the first two limitations by using multiple end-points: Treatment discontinuation arguably reflects treatment dissatisfaction, and drug survival, DLQI and PASI collectively captures broad aspects of psoriasis that are important to patients. We addressed the third limitation by evaluating disease severity over the entire period of data availability prior to initiation with the relevant treatment episode; and assessed the fourth limitation by examining the data and found no evidence of systematically differential follow-up among the three treatments.

### 6.1.3.3 Confounding

The study compared two treatments, adalimumab and etanercept to methotrexate, and the distribution of patient characteristics among the three treatments were uneven, suggesting potential confounding bias. We developed three DAGs to make underlying assumptions on causality explicit. It is possible that the DAGs are incorrect or omit important variables; and that residual confounding exists after controlling for variables as indicated in the DAGs. One example may be comorbidities such as inflammatory bowel disease for which ADA, and MTX, but not ETN are indicated.

### 6.1.3.4 Transportability

Differences in treatment targets, clinical practice, and patient selection may limit the transportability of the findings in space and time. Even within the study setting, changing treatment practice necessitated control for calendar year to address confounding. Furthermore, as evidenced by the analysis of PASI and DLQI during maintenance treatment, a number of patients had inadequately controlled psoriasis given current treatment targets and therefore drug survival estimates would likely differ in the current environment. Adherence to more strict treatment targets would reduce drug survival for all three treatments, but less for adalimumab than methotrexate.

### 6.1.3.5 Statistical considerations.

We fitted linear random intercept models with normally distributed errors and an identity link. PASI ranges between 0 and 72 and DLQI ranges between 0 and 30. During maintenance treatment, both PASI and DLQI are heavily skewed towards zero and it is possible that another error distribution would have suited the residuals better.

### 7 CONCLUSIONS

Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory disorder affecting both body and psyche. The studies in this thesis aimed to expand our knowledge of its clinical course, comorbidities, economic impact, and treatment.

Study 1 demonstrates that plaque psoriasis has a comparatively stable course. Patients with severe disease at onset were more than four times more likely to have severe disease after ten years than patients with mild or moderate disease (41% vs 9%; p<0.001). The study on treatment patterns also underscores the recalcitrance of psoriasis. A high proportion of patients restarted treatment within one year of discontinuation; with the probability increasing with potency of discontinued treatment: 49% for topicals, 61% for systemics, and 80% for biologics. The SPC also found that the course of psoriasis may be predicted with good discriminatory power. Patients with plaque phenotype, more than mild symptoms (s-PGA>3), and scalp involvement were more likely to develop severe psoriasis than patients with mild symptoms (s-PGA $\leq$ 3), irrespective of phenotype at enrolment (52% vs 11%, p<0.001). For PsA, patients with peripheral enthesitis at enrollment were more likely to have PsA at ten years than patients who reported no arthralgia at onset (59% vs 12%, p<0.001). Therefore, patients with these characteristics at onset may merit comparatively close follow-up or referral to specialists; especially since undertreatment of both psoriasis and PsA appear common (166). In general, patients with guttate onset had a good prognosis with 48% having minimal disease activity after ten years. Furthermore, only 1/94 (one per cent) of patients with guttate phenotype of mild or moderate disease severity at onset had severe psoriasis at ten years.

In terms of treatment, Study 5 found that ADA was superior to MTX whereas the findings for ETN versus MTX were more mixed. In line with results from clinical trials, these results suggest that ADA is more effective than MTX for treating skin manifestations of psoriasis, and may be a good option as a first line systemic treatment; albeit more data, especially on safety and costs are needed. In addition, even though ADA was comparatively effective, mean PASI was estimated at 2.9 during maintenance, reasonably in line with current treatment goals (45). However, the notion that psoriasis treatments may be insufficient is supported by the findings from Study 4 where more than 70% of patients on systemic and biologics augmented, switched, or discontinued treatment within one year from treatment start. Finally Study 1 found that early systemic treatment associated with reduced risk of severe disease at ten years: Six of 16 patients (38%) who initiated systemic treatment at or before enrolment had severe disease at ten years compared to 33 of 50 patients (65%) who started systemic treatment later in the disease course (p=0.044), a finding that was statistically significant after controlling for covariates. Given the non-randomized nature of the analysis, this finding should be viewed with a very high degree of caution and new studies, preferably randomized controlled clinical trials, are needed to determine the impact of early systemic treatment.

Study 2 found that all-cause mortality was increased in both mild and moderate to severe psoriasis. Whilst cardiovascular deaths accounted for most excess deaths, the highest relative risks of death for patients with mild psoriasis and severe psoriasis were kidney disease, and liver disease, respectively. The reasons for the elevated risks of deaths due to cardiovascular, kidney and liver disease are unclear. However, these organs are interdependent; and all three are adversely impacted by systemic inflammation, smoking, and excess alcohol consumption; factors also are associated with psoriasis (218-220). Liver disease and kidney disease are less frequent causes of death than cardiovascular disease and are therefore arguably less important to screen. However, liver and kidney function tests are recommended to monitor systemic treatment in psoriasis (221) and could potentially be used to identify patients with elevated risks for kidney and liver disease.

The study on the economic burden with psoriasis support the notion that psoriasis is associated with substantial direct and indirect costs and that the economic burden generally increases with disease severity. The analysis also demonstrates that treatment with biologics have the potential to decrease both direct and indirect costs, with the net impact on direct costs depending on the cost of biologics. This finding could inform economic evaluation of treatments in psoriasis and therefore improve resource allocation in the health care system.

Overall findings from these studies reinforce the notion that plaque psoriasis is a chronic disease associated with substantial burden both from clinical and economic perspectives. Identification of subgroups of patients with adverse disease course may contribute to better and more cost-effective management of the disease. The finding that early systemic intervention may affect the disease course may affect the treatment paradigm in psoriasis, but needs to be confirmed in sufficiently powered randomized controlled clinical trials.

## 8 POINTS OF PERSPECTIVE

This thesis attempts to enhance our knowledge of clinical, epidemiologic and economic aspects of psoriasis. Even though new knowledge has been gained, new questions have also arisen due to results and limitations.

The estimated effectiveness of novel systemics in psoriasis systematically differs between clinical trials and clinical practice (222). The reasons for these differences are debated (223) and may include patient characteristics, adherence, and treatment setting. Understanding the reasons for these differences may facilitate improved treatment outcomes in clinical practice. To this end, a study linking DermaReg to Swedish Health Registers may be valuable given the depth and breadth of data such a study would have. Furthermore, the observation that early systemic intervention may be disease modifying should be tested in a clinical trial; and such a trial is currently under way (224).

The studies in this thesis support a large body of evidence showing that some patients do not respond to or lose response to novel systemics. Identifying genotypes/other biomarkers or phenotypes with differential response rates to given treatments would enable clinicians to better tailor treatment to patients. Given the depth of the data in DermaReg, a study systematically exploring predictors of treatment response on these data may be valuable.

In terms of comorbidities and cause-specific mortality, all studies following patients over time rely on prevalent cohorts, albeit at least one study has implemented a wash-out period (225). Therefore, survivorship bias is a potential problem, and one that the SPC largely is free from. Therefore, even though SPC is limited in size, it may provide important information on comorbidities. Furthermore, detailed data on patients and controls from onset may enable identification of subgroups or patients with especially elevated risk of comorbidities.

The data in SPC may also be used to describe development of disease severity with disease duration and age, and disentangle the impact of the two factors. The study is also well equipped to examine the hypothesized existence of two types of psoriasis: One with early onset and adverse prognosis (Type 1), and one with later onset and better prognosis (Type 2). It could also beneficially be used to examine drivers of disease severity in comparatively mild population, not frequently seen in a dermatological setting.

One important limitation with SPC is that patients were not seen frequently and therefore the description of the clinical course of psoriasis has important limitations. New technology and the growth of investment in dermatology since the advent of SPC may facilitate a larger study with more frequent examinations and longer follow-up.

# 9 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to everyone who made the completion of this PhD possible, I really could not have done it without you. I am thankful to more people than I can name, but there are some in particular that I would like to acknowledge.

Thank you to my all my current and former colleagues as I3/Innovus/Ingenix/Optum/Mapi/ ICON. Special thanks to Johan Dalen, and Örjan Åkerborg for trying to teach me programming, statistical and general, and Emma Hernlund for trying to teach me Science. I would also like to thank Chiara Malmberg and Erin Johansson for having muddled through epic amounts of modelling and adaptation work with me; and Anna Stenqvist Castello Branco, Andrea Lang, Moa Ivergård, Josefine Redig, Simona Vertuani, and Viktor Wintzell for not going ballistic for having me as their line manager.

I am also indebted to colleagues at the Karolinska Institutet. I am especially grateful to Helena Grieshel and Maria Lundqvist for their immense work on DermaReg and SPC.

Thank you to my co-supervisors Linus Jönsson, Ingemar Petersson, and Mats Rosenlund for your support during various part of this eight year process. I am especially grateful to my main supervisor, Mona Ståhle: This thesis is much better and more extensive than I ever imagined thanks to you. I have learnt so much and really enjoyed working for you. I hope we can continue working together.

To all my good friends, whom I have seen far too little of the last 18 months: Thank you and I hope to see more of you in the near future. Special thanks to De Allra Minst Nyfikna for having provided seemingly endless amount of entertainment and discussion during this time.

Above all, a big thank you to my family. Both the one I was born with and then one I have made. Thank you Jörgen, Eva, Anna, Helena, Jakob, Eva, Johanna, Vesper, Felix, and Vanja. I love you all.

### **10 REFERENCES**

1. Boehncke WH, Schon MP. Psoriasis. Lancet. 2015;386(9997):983-94.

2. WHO. Global report on psoriasis. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organziation; 2016.

3. Naldi L, Gambini D. The clinical spectrum of psoriasis. Clinics in Dermatology. 2007;25(6):510-8.

4. Newman MDW, Jeffrey M. The pathophysiology of psoriasis. In: Weinberg JM, editor. Treatment of Psoriasis. 1st ed. Basel, Switzerland: Birkhauser Verlag AG; 2008. p. 11-22.

5. Burden-Teh E, Phillips R, Thomas K, Ratib S, Grindlay D, Murphy R. A systematic review of diagnostic criteria for psoriasis in adults and children: evidence from studies with a primary aim to develop or validate diagnostic criteria. British Journal of Dermatology. 2018;178(5):1035-43.

6. Norman GR, Rosenthal D, Brooks LR, Allen SW, Muzzin LJ. The development of expertise in dermatology. Archives of Dermatology. 1989;125(8):1063-8.

7. Griffiths CE, Christophers E, Barker JN, Chalmers RJ, Chimenti S, Krueger GG, et al. A classification of psoriasis vulgaris according to phenotype. British Journal of Dermatology. 2007;156(2):258-62.

8. Van de Kerkhof PC, editor. Textbook of psoriasis. 2nd ed. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing; 2008.

9. McMichael AJ, Vachiramon V, Guzmán-Sánchez DA, Camacho F. Psoriasis in African-Americans: a caregivers' survey. Journal of Drugs in Dermatology. 2012;11(4):478-82.

10. Lew W, Lee E, Krueger J. Psoriasis genomics: analysis of proinflammatory (type 1) gene expression in large plaque (Western) and small plaque (Asian) psoriasis vulgaris. British Journal of Dermatology. 2004;150(4):668-76.

11. Ritchlin CT, Colbert RA, Gladman DD. Psoriatic arthritis. New England Journal of Medicine. 2017;376(10):957-70.

12. Boehncke W-H. Psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: flip sides of the coin? Acta Dermato-Venereologica. 2016;96(4):436-41.

13. Farber EM, Peterson JB. Variations in the natural history of psoriasis. California medicine. 1961;95(1):6-11.

14. Romanus T. Psoriasis from a prognostic and hereditary point of view [Doctoral Dissertation]. Uppsala, Sweden: State Institute of Human Genetics and Race Biology; 1945.

15. Scully JL. What is a disease? Disease, disability and their definitions. EMBO reports. 2004;5(7):650-3.

16. Lowes MA, Bowcock AM, Krueger JG. Pathogenesis and therapy of psoriasis. Nature. 2007;445(7130):866-73.

17. Ogawa K, Okada Y. The current landscape of psoriasis genetics in 2020. Journal of Dermatological Science. 2020;99(1):2-8.

18. Capon F. The genetic basis of psoriasis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2017;18(12):2526.

19. Naldi L, Chatenoud L, Linder D, Fortina AB, Peserico A, Virgili AR, et al. Cigarette smoking, body mass index, and stressful life events as risk factors for psoriasis: results from an Italian case–control study. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2005;125(1):61-7.

20. Telfer NR, Chalmers RJ, Whale K, Colman G. The role of streptococcal infection in the initiation of guttate psoriasis. Archives of Dermatology. 1992;128(1):39-42.

21. Crocker HR. Diseases of the skin: their description, pathology, diagnosis, and treatment: with special reference to the skin eruptions of children. 2nd ed. London, UK: H.K. Lewis; 1893.

22. Pietrzak A, Michalak-Stoma A, Chodorowska G, Szepietowski JC. Lipid disturbances in psoriasis: an update. Mediators of Inflammation. 2010;2010.

23. Abraham P. An address on psoriasis and its treatment: Delivered before the Ealing division of the Metropolitan Counties Branch of the British Medical Association. British medical journal. 1906;1(2363):842.

24. Hyde JN. The Influence Of Light-Hunger In The Production Of Psoriasis. The British Medical Journal. 1906:833-9.

25. McFadden J. Hypothesis—the natural selection of psoriasis. Clinical and Experimental Dermatology. 1990;15(1):39-43.

26. Bassukas ID, Gaitanis G, Hundeiker M. Leprosy and the natural selection for psoriasis. Medical hypotheses. 2012;78(1):183-90.

27. Parisi R, Symmons DP, Griffiths CE, Ashcroft DM. Global epidemiology of psoriasis: a systematic review of incidence and prevalence. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2013;133(2):377-85.

28. Icen M, Crowson CS, McEvoy MT, Dann FJ, Gabriel SE, Kremers HM. Trends in incidence of adult-onset psoriasis over three decades: a population-based study. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2009;60(3):394-401.

29. Danielsen K, Olsen A, Wilsgaard T, Furberg AS. Is the prevalence of psoriasis increasing? A 30-year follow-up of a population-based cohort. British Journal of Dermatology. 2013;168(6):1303-10.

30. Egeberg A, Skov L, Gislason GH, Thyssen JP, Mallbris L. Incidence and prevalence of psoriasis in Denmark. Acta Dermato-Venereologica. 2017;97(7):808-12.

31. Springate D, Parisi R, Kontopantelis E, Reeves D, Griffiths C, Ashcroft D. Incidence, prevalence and mortality of patients with psoriasis: a UK population-based cohort study. British Journal of Dermatology. 2017;176(3):650-8.

32. Takeshita J, Grewal S, Langan SM, Mehta NN, Ogdie A, Van Voorhees AS, et al. Psoriasis and comorbid diseases: epidemiology. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2017;76(3):377-90.

33. Ingram JT. The significance and management of psoriasis. BMJ. 1954;2(4892):823-8.

34. Devaux S, Castela A, Archier E, Gallini A, Joly P, Misery L, et al. Adherence to topical treatment in psoriasis: a systematic literature review. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2012;26 (3):61-7.

35. Martin ML, McCarrier KP, Chiou C-F, Gordon K, Kimball AB, Van Voorhees AS, et al. Early development and qualitative evidence of content validity for the Psoriasis Symptom Inventory (PSI), a patient-reported outcome measure of psoriasis symptom severity. Journal of Dermatological Treatment. 2013;24(4):255-60.

36. De Korte J, Mombers FM, Bos JD, Sprangers MA, editors. Quality of life in patients with psoriasis: a systematic literature review. Journal of Investigative Dermatology Symposium Proceedings; 2004: Elsevier.

37. Rapp SR, Feldman SR, Exum ML, Fleischer Jr AB, Reboussin DM. Psoriasis causes as much disability as other major medical diseases. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 1999;41(3):401-7.

38. Dubertret L, Mrowietz U, Ranki A, Van De Kerkhof P, Chimenti S, Lotti T, et al. European patient perspectives on the impact of psoriasis: the EUROPSO patient membership survey. British Journal of Dermatology. 2006;155(4):729-36.

39. Pariser D, Schenkel B, Carter C, Farahi K, Brown TM, Ellis CN, et al. A multicenter, non-interventional study to evaluate patient-reported experiences of living with psoriasis. Journal of Dermatological Treatment. 2016;27(1):19-26.

40. Mustonen A, Mattila K, Leino M, Koulu L, Tuominen R. How much of the productivity losses among psoriasis patients are due to psoriasis. BMC Health Services Research. 2015;15(1):1-6.

41. Shenoi SD, Prabhu S. Role of cultural factors in the biopsychosocial model of psychosomatic skin diseases: an Indian perspective. Clinics in Dermatology. 2013;31(1):62-5.

42. Elmets CA, Leonardi CL, Davis DM, Gelfand JM, Lichten J, Mehta NN, et al. Joint AAD-NPF guidelines of care for the management and treatment of psoriasis with awareness and attention to comorbidities. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2019;80(4):1073-113.

43. Kolios AG, Yawalkar N, Anliker M, Boehncke W-H, Borradori L, Conrad C, et al. Swiss S1 guidelines on the systemic treatment of psoriasis vulgaris. Dermatology. 2016;232(4):385-406.

44. NICE. Psoriasis: assessment and management [Internet]. London, UK: National Clinical Guideline Centre; 2012.

45. Socialstyrelsen. Nationella riktlinjer för vård vid psoriasis - Stöd för styrning och ledning [Internet]. Stockholm, Sweden: Socialstyrelsen; 2019.

46. Mrowietz U, Steinz K, Gerdes S. Psoriasis: to treat or to manage? Experimental dermatology. 2014;23(10):705-9.

47. Bramwell B. A Clinical Lecture on a Case of Psoriasis Treated by Thyroid Extract: Delivered at the Edinburgh Royal Infirmary. BMJ. 1894;1(1734):617.

48. Leslie K, Levell N. Thyroid feeding: a forgotten treatment for psoriasis. Clinical and experimental dermatology (Print). 2004;29(5):567-8.

49. Farber EM. History of the treatment of psoriasis. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 1992;27(4):640-5.

50. Menter A, Korman NJ, Elmets CA, Feldman SR, Gelfand JM, Gordon KB, et al. Guidelines of care for the management of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: section 4. Guidelines of care for the management and treatment of psoriasis with traditional systemic agents. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2009;61(3):451-85.

51. Fass. Fass 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.fass.se/LIF/startpage</u>.

52. Sawyer LM, Malottki K, Sabry-Grant C, Yasmeen N, Wright E, Sohrt A, et al. Assessing the relative efficacy of interleukin-17 and interleukin-23 targeted treatments for moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of PASI response. PloS One. 2019;14(8):e0220868.

53. Singh RK, Lee KM, Jose MV, Nakamura M, Ucmak D, Farahnik B, et al. The patient's guide to psoriasis treatment. Part 1: UVB phototherapy. Dermatology and Therapy. 2016;6(3):307-13.

54. Farahnik B, Nakamura M, Singh RK, Abrouk M, Zhu TH, Lee KM, et al. The patient's guide to psoriasis treatment. Part 2: PUVA phototherapy. Dermatology and Therapy. 2016;6(3):315-24.

55. IQWIG. Topical treatment for psoriasis Cologne, Germany: Institut für Qualität und Wirtschaftlichkeit im Gesundheitswesen; 2017 [cited 2020 21 Oct]. Available from: https://www.informedhealth.org/topical-treatments-for-psoriasis.html.

56. Grodner C, Mezzarobba M, Weill A, Sbidian E. Evolution of topical steroids consumption before and after initiation of systemic treatment in psoriasis: epidemiologic study in a real-world analysis of the French national health insurance database. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2020;34(6):e259-e62.

57. Ahn CS, Culp L, Huang WW, Davis SA, Feldman SR. Adherence in dermatology. Journal of Dermatological Treatment. 2017;28(2):94-103.

58. Storm A, Andersen SE, Benfeldt E, Serup J. One in 3 prescriptions are never redeemed: primary nonadherence in an outpatient clinic. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2008;59(1):27-33.

59. Morita A. Current developments in phototherapy for psoriasis. The Journal of dermatology. 2018;45(3):287-92.

60. Wong T, Hsu L, Liao W. Phototherapy in psoriasis: a review of mechanisms of action. Journal of Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery. 2013;17(1):6-12.

61. Hearn R, Kerr A, Rahim K, Ferguson J, Dawe R. Incidence of skin cancers in 3867 patients treated with narrow-band ultraviolet B phototherapy. British Journal of Dermatology. 2008;159(4):931-5.

62. Sbidian E, Chaimani A, Afach S, Doney L, Dressler C, Hua C, et al. Systemic pharmacological treatments for chronic plaque psoriasis: a network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2020;1(1):1-598.

63. Supino PG, Borer JS, editors. Principles of research methodology: A guide for clinical investigators. 1st ed. New York, NY, USA: Springer; 2012.

64. Thiese MS. Observational and interventional study design types; an overview. Biochemia Medica. 2014;24(2):199-210.

65. Glasziou P, Heneghan C. A spotter's guide to study designs. Evidence-Based Nursing. 2009;12(3):71-2.

66. Mathes T, Pieper D. Study design classification of registry-based studies in systematic reviews. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2018;93:84-7.

67. Petersen L, Minkkinen P, Esbensen KH. Representative sampling for reliable data analysis: theory of sampling. Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems. 2005;77:261-77.

68. Hernán M. Discussion on the paper by Keiding and Louis. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A. 2016;179(2):346-7.

69. Kukull WA, Ganguli M. Generalizability: the trees, the forest, and the low-hanging fruit. Neurology. 2012;78(23):1886-91.

70. Rothwell PM. External validity of randomised controlled trials:"to whom do the results of this trial apply?". Lancet. 2005;365(9453):82-93.

71. McCambridge J, Witton J, Elbourne DR. Systematic review of the Hawthorne effect: new concepts are needed to study research participation effects. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2014;67(3):267-77.

72. Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL, editors. Modern epidemiology. 2nd ed. Philadelphia, PA, USA: Lippincott - Raven; 1998.

73. OECD. OECD glossary of statistical terms. 1st ed. Paris, France: OECD Publishing; 2008.

74. Viti A, Terzi A, Bertolaccini L. A practical overview on probability distributions. Journal of Thoracic Disease. 2015;7(3):E7.

75. Mun J. Advanced analytical models: over 800 models and 300 applications from the basel II accord to Wall Street and beyond. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons; 2008.

76. Lavine M. Introduction to statistical thought. Gainesville, FL, United States: Orange Grove Books; 2009.

77. Altman DG, Bland JM. Statistics notes: the normal distribution. BMJ. 1995;310(6975):298.

78. Islam MR. Sample size and its role in Central Limit Theorem (CLT). International Journal of Physics & Mathematics. 2018;5(1):1-7.

79. Swinscow T, Campbell M. Statistics at square one. 9th ed. London, UK: BMJ Publishing Group; 1997.

80. Armstrong BG. The Effects of Measurement Errors on Relative Risk Regressions. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1990;132(6):1176-84.

81. Pannucci CJ, Wilkins EG. Identifying and avoiding bias in research. Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery. 2010;126(2):619.

82. Fadnes LT, Taube A, Tylleskär T. How to identify information bias due to self-reporting in epidemiological research. The Internet Journal of Epidemiology. 2009;7(2):1-21.

83. Smith J, Noble H. Bias in research. Evidence-Based Nursing. 2014;17(4):100-1.

84. Delgado-Rodriguez M, Llorca J. Bias. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2004;58(8):635-41.

85. Hernán MA, Hernández-Díaz S, Robins JM. A structural approach to selection bias. Epidemiology. 2004;15(5):615-25.

86. Grimes DA, Schulz KF. Bias and causal associations in observational research. The lancet. 2002;359(9302):248-52.

87. Haneuse S. Distinguishing selection bias and confounding bias in comparative effectiveness research. Medical Care. 2016;54(4):e23.

88. Naldi L, Cazzaniga S, Rao G. Epidemiology and economic aspects. In: Sterry W, Sabat R, Philipp S, editors. Psoriasis: Diagnosis and Management. 1st ed. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons; 2015. p. 1-10.

89. Gordon KB, Ruderman EM, editors. Psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: An integrated approach. 1st ed. Heidelberg, Germany: Springer; 2005.

90. Williams HC, Bigby M, Naldi L, Dellavalle RP, Ran Y, Furue M, editors. Evidence-based dermatology. 3rd ed. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons; 2014.

91. Weller RB, Hunter HJ, Mann MW, editors. Clinical Dermatology. 5th ed. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2015.

92. Barker J, Kimball AB, Tebbey PW, Sterry W. A Strategic Approach to Setting the Research Agenda in Psoriasis. Psoriasis Forum. 2011;17(2):97-102.

93. Ryan C, Korman NJ, Gelfand JM, Lim HW, Elmets CA, Feldman SR, et al. Research gaps in psoriasis: opportunities for future studies. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2014;70(1):146-67.

94. Hippler M. Das Schicksal unserer Psoriasispatienten nach klinischer und ambulanter Behandlung. Munster: Fahle; 1932.

95. Hallam R. The prognosis of psoriasis. British Journal of Dermatology. 1934;46(5):221-3.

96. Weinsheimer E. Das Schicksal unserer Psoriasiskranken: Fürderer; 1937.

97. Diedey M. A propos du pronostic du psoriasis: Contrôle de 42 cas. Dermatologica. 1951;102(4-6):315-6.

98. Dorn H. Psoriasis als Erbleiden unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Mutationsrate. Archiv für Klinische und Experimentelle Dermatologie. 1957;206(1):517-25.

99. Lomholt G. Psoriasis: prevalence, spontaneous course, and genetics. A census study on the prevalence of skin disease on the Faroe Island. Copenhagen. Copenhagen, Denmark: GEC Gad; 1963.

100. Molin L. Studies on course and severity, joint involvement, socio-medical conditions and general morbidity in a previously hospitalized materia [Dissertation]. Stockholm: Karolinska Institutet; 1972.

101. Farber EM, Nall ML. The natural history of psoriasis in 5,600 patients. Dermatologica. 1974;148(1):1-18.

102. Martin BA, Chalmers RJ, Telfer NR. How great is the risk of further psoriasis following a single episode of acute guttate psoriasis? Archives of Dermatology. 1996;132(6):717-8.

103. Kaur I, Handa S, Kumar B. Natural history of psoriasis: a study from the Indian subcontinent. Journal of Dermatology. 1997;24(4):230-4.

104. Ferrándiz C, Pujol RM, García-Patos V, Bordas X, Smandía JA. Psoriasis of early and late onset: a clinical and epidemiologic study from Spain. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2002;46(6):867-73.

105. Ko HC, JWA SW, Song M, Kim MB, Kwon KS. Clinical course of guttate psoriasis: Long-term follow-up study. Journal of Dermatology. 2010;37(10):894-9.

106. Sakai R, Matsui S, Fukushima M, Yasuda H, Miyauchi H, Miyachi Y. Prognostic factor analysis for plaque psoriasis. Dermatology. 2005;211(2):103-6.

107. Spuls PI, Witkamp L, Bossuyt PM, Bos JD. The course of chronic plaque-type psoriasis in placebo groups of randomized controlled studies. Archives of Dermatology. 2004;140(3):338-44.

108. Ambikaibalan D, Quaade AS, Halling A-S, Thyssen JP, Egeberg A. Placebo response in phase 3 trials of systemic therapies for moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dermatology. 2020;237(2):1-8.

109. Siemens H. Über das Verhalten einer nicht mitbehandelten Stelle bei der Psoriasis. Acta Dermato-Venereologica. 1954;34:305-10.

110. Henseler T, Christophers E. Psoriasis of early and late onset: characterization of two types of psoriasis vulgaris. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 1985;13(3):450-6.

111. de Jager ME, de Jong EM, Meeuwis KA, van de Kerkhof PC, Seyger MM. No evidence found that childhood onset of psoriasis influences disease severity, future body mass index or type of treatments used. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2010;24(11):1333-9.

112. Dhana A, Yen H, Yen H, Cho E. All-cause and cause-specific mortality in psoriasis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2019;80(5):1332-43.

113. Stern RS, Huibregtse A. Very severe psoriasis is associated with increased noncardiovascular mortality but not with increased cardiovascular risk. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2011;131(5):1159-66.

114. Maradit-Kremers H, Dierkhising RA, Crowson CS, Icen M, Ernste FC, McEvoy MT. Risk and predictors of cardiovascular disease in psoriasis: a population-based study. International Journal of Dermatology. 2013;52(1):32-40.

115. Ogdie A, Yu Y, Haynes K, Love TJ, Maliha S, Jiang Y, et al. Risk of major cardiovascular events in patients with psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based cohort study. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2015;74(2):326-32.

116. Mallbris L, Akre O, Granath F, Yin L, Lindelof B, Ekbom A, et al. Increased risk for cardiovascular mortality in psoriasis inpatients but not in outpatients. European Journal of Epidemiology. 2004;19(3):225-30.

117. Ahlehoff O, Gislason GH, Charlot M, Jørgensen C, Lindhardsen J, Olesen J, et al. Psoriasis is associated with clinically significant cardiovascular risk: a Danish nationwide cohort study. Journal of Internal Medicine. 2011;270(2):147-57.

118. Lindegard B. Mortality and causes of death among psoriatics. Dermatologica. 1989;179(2):91-2.

119. Poikolainen K, Karvonen J, Pukkala E. Excess mortality related to alcohol and smoking among hospital-treated patients with psoriasis. Archives of Dermatology. 1999;135(12):1490-3.

120. Parisi R, Webb R, Kleyn C, Carr M, Kapur N, Griffiths C, et al. Psychiatric morbidity and suicidal behaviour in psoriasis: a primary care cohort study. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019;180(1):108-15.

121. Yiu Z, Parisi R, Lunt M, Warren R, Griffiths C, Langan S, et al. Risk of hospitalization and death due to infection in people with psoriasis: a population-based cohort study using the Clinical Practice Research Datalink. British Journal of Dermatology. 2021;184(1):78-86.

122. Abuabara K, Azfar R, Shin D, Neimann A, Troxel A, Gelfand J. Cause-specific mortality in patients with severe psoriasis: a population-based cohort study in the UK. British Journal of Dermatology. 2010;163(3):586-92.

123. Colaco K, Widdifield J, Luo J, Rosen CF, Alhusayen R, Paterson JM, et al. Trends in mortality and cause-specific mortality among patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis in Ontario, Canada. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2020.

124. Lee M-S, Yeh Y-C, Chang Y-T, Lai M-S. All-cause and cause-specific mortality in patients with psoriasis in Taiwan: a nationwide population-based study. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2017;137(7):1468-73.

125. Salahadeen E, Torp-Pedersen C, Gislason G, Hansen P, Ahlehoff O. Nationwide population-based study of cause-specific death rates in patients with psoriasis. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2015;29(5):1002-5.

126. Skov L, Thomsen S, Kristensen L, Dodge R, Hedegaard M, Kjellberg J. Causespecific mortality in patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019;180(1):100-7.

127. Costanzo A, Malara G, Pelucchi C, Fatiga F, Barbera G, Franchi A, et al. Effectiveness end points in real-world studies on biological therapies in psoriasis: systematic review with focus on drug survival. Dermatology. 2018;234:1-12.

128. No DJ, Inkeles MS, Amin M, Wu JJ. Drug survival of biologic treatments in psoriasis: a systematic review. Journal of Dermatological Treatment. 2018;29(5):460-6.

129. Mason K, Williams S, Yiu Z, McElhone K, Ashcroft D, Kleyn C, et al. Persistence and effectiveness of nonbiologic systemic therapies for moderate-to-severe psoriasis in adults: a systematic review. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019;181(2):256-64.

130. Sbidian E, Mezzarobba M, Weill A, Coste J, Rudant J. Persistence of treatment with biologics for patients with psoriasis: a real-world analysis of 16 545 biologic-naïve patients from the French National Health Insurance database (SNIIRAM). British Journal of Dermatology. 2019;180(1):86-93.

131. Garcia-Doval I, Dávila-Seijo P. How real are 'real-life studies' in psoriasis, and the uncertain meaning of drug persistence. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019;180(1):15-6.

132. Grantham HJ, Reynolds NJ. The devil is in the data: differences in drug persistence between SNIIRAM, the French national health insurance database, and psoriasis biologics intervention registers. Biritish Journal of Dermatology. 2019;180(1):8-10.

133. Ghatnekar O, Ljungberg A, Wirestrand LE, Svensson A. Costs and quality of life for psoriatic patients at different degrees of severity in southern Sweden - a cross-sectional study. European Journal of Dermatology. 2012;22(2):238-45.

134. Ekelund M, Mallbris L, Qvitzau S, Stenberg B. A higher score on the dermatology life quality index, being on systemic treatment and having a diagnosis of psoriatic arthritis is associated with increased costs in patients with plaque psoriasis. Acta Dermato-Venereologica. 2013;93(6):684-8.

135. Norlin JM, Steen Carlsson K, Persson U, Schmitt-Egenolf M. Resource use in patients with psoriasis after the introduction of biologics in Sweden. Acta Dermato-Venereologica. 2015;95(2):156-61.

136. Löfvendahl S, Petersson IF, Theander E, Svensson Å, Zhou C, Carlsson KS. Incremental costs for psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis in a population-based cohort in Southern Sweden: is it all psoriasis-attributable morbidity? Journal of Rheumatology. 2016;43(3):640-7.

137. Gisondi P, Geat D, Conti A, Dapavo P, Piaserico S, De Simone C, et al. TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors biosimilars as first line systemic treatment for moderate-to-severe chronic plaque psoriasis. Expert Review of Clinical Immunology. 2020;16(6):591-8.

138. Saurat JH, Stingl G, Dubertret L, Papp K, Langley R, Ortonne JP, et al. Efficacy and safety results from the randomized controlled comparative study of adalimumab vs. methotrexate vs. placebo in patients with psoriasis (CHAMPION). British Journal of Dermatology. 2008;158(3):558-66.

139. Papp K, Thaçi D, Marcoux D, Weibel L, Philipp S, Ghislain P-D, et al. Efficacy and safety of adalimumab every other week versus methotrexate once weekly in children and adolescents with severe chronic plaque psoriasis: a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2017;390(10089):40-9.

140. Dávila-Seijo P, Dauden E, Carretero G, Ferrandiz C, Vanaclocha F, Gómez-García FJ, et al. Survival of classic and biological systemic drugs in psoriasis: results of the BIOBADADERM registry and critical analysis. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2016;30(11):1942-50.

141. Puig L, Carrascosa J-M, Daudén E, Sulleiro S, Guisado C. Drug survival of conventional systemic and biologic therapies for moderate-to-severe psoriasis in clinical practice in Spain: prospective results from the SAHARA study. Journal of Dermatological Treatment. 2019;31(4):344-51.

142. Arnold T, Schaarschmidt ML, Herr R, Fischer JE, Goerdt S, Peitsch WK. Drug survival rates and reasons for drug discontinuation in psoriasis. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft. 2016;14(11):1089-99.

143. Gelfand JM, Wan J, Duffin KC, Krueger GG, Kalb RE, Weisman JD, et al. Comparative effectiveness of commonly used systemic treatments or phototherapy for moderate to severe plaque psoriasis in the clinical practice setting. Archives of Dermatology. 2012;148(4):487-94.

144. Piaserico S, Conti A, Lo Console F, De Simone C, Prestinari F, Mazzotta A, et al. Efficacy and safety of systemic treatments for psoriasis in elderly patients. Acta Dermato-Venereologica. 2014;94(3):293-7.

145. Gisondi P, Cotena C, Tessari G, Girolomoni G. Anti–tumour necrosis factoralpha therapy increases body weight in patients with chronic plaque psoriasis: a retrospective cohort study. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2008;22(3):341-4.

146. Löfvendahl S, Schelin ME, Jöud A. The value of the Skåne Health-care Register: Prospectively collected individual-level data for population-based studies. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health. 2020;48(1):56-63.

147. Guénette J, Belzile G, Hjertqvist J. Health care in Sweden: Decentralized, autonomous, competitive, and universal [Internet]. Montreal, Canada: MEI; 2017.

148. Läkemedelsverket. Läkemedelsverkets föreskrifter (HSLF-FS 2017:74) om begränsningar av förordnande och utlämnande av vissa läkemedel. 2021.

149. Christophers E, Sterry W. Psoriasis. In: Fitzpatrick T, K. W, Freedberg I, Austen K, editors. Dermatology in General Medicine 4th ed. New York, NY, USA: McGraw-Hill; 1993. p. 489–514.

150. Wettermark B, Hammar N, Fored CM, Leimanis A, Otterblad OP, Bergman U, et al. The new Swedish Prescribed Drug Register--opportunities for pharmacoepidemiological research and experience from the first six months. Pharmacoepidemiological Drug Safety. 2007;16(7):726-35.

151. Ludvigsson JF, Andersson E, Ekbom A, Feychting M, Kim JL, Reuterwall C, et al. External review and validation of the Swedish national inpatient register. BMC public health. 2011;11:450.

152. Brooke HL, Talbäck M, Hörnblad J, Johansson LA, Ludvigsson JF, Druid H, et al. The Swedish cause of death register. European Journal of Epidemiology. 2017;32(9):765-73.

153. Johansson LA, Björkenstam C, Westerling R. Unexplained differences between hospital and mortality data indicated mistakes in death certification: an investigation of 1,094 deaths in Sweden during 1995. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2009;62(11):1202-9.

154. Ludvigsson JF, Almqvist C, Bonamy A-KE, Ljung R, Michaëlsson K, Neovius M, et al. Registers of the Swedish total population and their use in medical research. European Journal of Epidemiology. 2016;31(2):125-36.

155. Østvoll E, Sunnergren O, Stalfors J. Does tonsillectomy reduce medical care visits for pharyngitis/tonsillitis in children and adults? Retrospective cohort study from Sweden. BMJ open. 2019;9(11):e033817.

156. Österlund N. MiDAS Sjukpenning och Rehabiliteringspenning Version 1.02 [Internet]. Stockholm, Sweden: Social Insurance Agency; 2011.

157. Fredriksson T, Pettersson U. Severe psoriasis–oral therapy with a new retinoid. Dermatology. 1978;157(4):238-44.

158. Husni ME, Meyer KH, Cohen DS, Mody E, Qureshi AA. The PASE questionnaire: pilot-testing a psoriatic arthritis screening and evaluation tool. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2007;57(4):581-7.

159. Finlay AY, Khan G. Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI)—a simple practical measure for routine clinical use. Clinical and Experimental Dermatology. 1994;19(3):210-6.

160. Szende A, Oppe M, Devlin NJ, editors. EQ-5D value sets: inventory, comparative review and user guide. 1st ed. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer; 2007.

161. Svanborg P, Åsberg M. A new self-rating scale for depression and anxiety states based on the Comprehensive Psychopathological Rating Scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 1994;89(1):21-8.

162. Ludvigsson JF, Otterblad-Olausson P, Pettersson BU, Ekbom A. The Swedish personal identity number: possibilities and pitfalls in healthcare and medical research. European journal of epidemiology. 2009;24(11):659-67.

163. Spuls PI, Lecluse LL, Poulsen M-LN, Bos JD, Stern RS, Nijsten T. How good are clinical severity and outcome measures for psoriasis?: quantitative evaluation in a systematic review. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2010;130(4):933-43.

164. Duffin KC, Bushmakin AG, Cappelleri JC, Mallbris L, Mamolo C. A multiitem Physician Global Assessment scale to assess psoriasis disease severity: validation based on four phase III tofacitinib studies. BMC Dermatology. 2019;19(1):8.

165. Egeberg A, Gyldenløve M, Zachariae C, Skov L. Validation of psoriasis severity classification based on use of topical or systemic treatment. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2018;32(1):4-5.

166. Armstrong AW, Koning JW, Rowse S, Tan H, Mamolo C, Kaur M. Undertreatment of patients with moderate to severe psoriasis in the United States: analysis of medication usage with health plan data. Dermatology and Therapy. 2017;7(1):97-109.

167. Ali F, Cueva A, Vyas J, Atwan A, Salek M, Finlay A, et al. A systematic review of the use of quality-of-life instruments in randomized controlled trials for psoriasis. British Journal of Dermatology. 2017;176(3):577-93.

168. Hongbo Y, Thomas CL, Harrison MA, Salek MS, Finlay AY. Translating the science of quality of life into practice: what do dermatology life quality index scores mean? Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2005;125(4):659-64.

169. Moll J, Wright V. Psoriatic arthritis. Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism. 1973;3(1):55-78.

170. Taylor W, Gladman D, Helliwell P, Marchesoni A, Mease P, Mielants H. Classification criteria for psoriatic arthritis: development of new criteria from a large international study. Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology. 2006;54(8):2665-73.

171. EUNETHTA. Endpoints used for relative effectiveness assessment of pharmaceuticals: Clincial end-points [Internet]. Diemen, Netherlands; 2015.

172. Murphy SL, Xu J, Kochanek KD. Deaths: final data for 2010. Natl Vital Stat Rep. 2013;61(4):1-117.

173. Palmer S, Raftery J. Opportunity cost. BMJ. 1999;318(7197):1551-2.

174. Meltzer MI. Introduction to health economics for physicians. Lancet. 2001;358(9286):993-8.

175. Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Claxton K, Stoddart GL, Torrance GW. Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes. 3rd ed. Oxford, UK: Oxford university press; 2005.

176. Rice DP. Cost of illness studies: what is good about them? Injury Prevention. 2000;6(3):177-9.

177. Van Den Reek JM, Kievit W, Gniadecki R, Goeman JJ, Zweegers J, Van De Kerkhof PC, et al. Drug survival studies in dermatology: principles, purposes, and pitfalls. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2015;135(7):1-5.

178. Van den Reek J, Zweegers J, Kievit W, Otero M, Van Lümig P, Driessen R, et al. 'Happy'drug survival of adalimumab, etanercept and ustekinumab in psoriasis in daily practice care: results from the Bio CAPTURE network. British Journal of Dermatology. 2014;171(5):1189-96.

179. Student. The probable error of a mean. Biometrika. 1908;6(1):1-25.

180. Pólya G. Über den zentralen Grenzwertsatz der Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung und das Momentenproblem. Mathematische Zeitschrift. 1920;8(3-4):171-81.

181. Carpenter J, Bithell J. Bootstrap confidence intervals: when, which, what? A practical guide for medical statisticians. Statistics in Medicine. 2000;19(9):1141-64.

182. Pearson K. X. On the criterion that a given system of deviations from the probable in the case of a correlated system of variables is such that it can be reasonably supposed to have arisen from random sampling. The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science. 1900;50(302):157-75.

183. McNemar Q. Note on the sampling error of the difference between correlated proportions or percentages. Psychometrika. 1947;12(2):153-7.

184. Clopper CJ, Pearson ES. The use of confidence or fiducial limits illustrated in the case of the binomial. Biometrika. 1934;26(4):404-13.

185. Kaplan EL, Meier P. Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 1958;53(282):457-81.

186. Nelder JA, Wedderburn RW. Generalized linear models. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A. 1972;135(3):370-84.

187. Cleveland WS, Devlin SJ. Locally weighted regression: an approach to regression analysis by local fitting. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 1988;83(403):596-610.

188. Cox D. Regression models and life tables. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B. 1972;34(1):187-220.

189. Kleinbaum DG, Klein M. Survival analysis. 3rd ed. New York, NY, USA: Springer; 2010.

190. Firth D. Bias reduction of maximum likelihood estimates. Biometrika. 1993;80(1):27-38.

191. Greenland S, Mansournia MA, Altman DG. Sparse data bias: a problem hiding in plain sight. BMJ. 2016;352:i1981.

192. Williams R. Using the margins command to estimate and interpret adjusted predictions and marginal effects. The Stata Journal. 2012;12(2):308-31.

193. Rabe-Hesketh S, Skrondal A. Multilevel and longitudinal modeling using Stata. 2nd ed. College Station, TX, USA: Stata press; 2008.

194. Shmueli G. To explain or to predict? Statistical Science. 2010;25(3):289-310.

195. Greenland S, Pearl J, Robins JM. Causal diagrams for epidemiologic research. Epidemiology. 1999;10(1):37-48.

196. Hothorn T, Hornik K, Zeileis A. Unbiased recursive partitioning: A conditional inference framework. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics. 2006;15(3):651-74.

197. Mann HB, Whitney DR. On a test of whether one of two random variables is stochastically larger than the other. Annals of Mathematical Statistics. 1947;18(1):50-60.

198. Harrell FE, Califf RM, Pryor DB, Lee KL, Rosati RA. Evaluating the yield of medical tests. JAMA. 1982;247(18):2543-6.

199. Heller G, Mo Q. Estimating the concordance probability in a survival analysis with a discrete number of risk groups. Lifetime Data Analysis. 2016;22(2):263-79.

200. Briggs A, Gray A. The distribution of health care costs and their statistical analysis for economic evaluation. Journal of Health Services Research & Policy. 1998;3(4):233-45.

201. Desgagné A, Castilloux A-M, Angers J-F, Le Lorier J. The use of the bootstrap statistical method for the pharmacoeconomic cost analysis of skewed data. Pharmacoeconomics. 1998;13(5):487-97.

202. Lin D, Psaty B, Kronmal A. Assessing the sensitivity of regression results to unmeasured confounders in observational studies. Biometrics. 1998;54(3):948-63.

203. Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of biomedical ethics. 5th ed. New York, NY,USA: Oxford University Press; 2001.

204. Forska!Sverige. Opinionsundersökning 2020. Stockholm, Sweden: Stiftelsen Forska!Sverige; 2020.

205. Steyerberg EW, Harrell FE. Prediction models need appropriate internal, internal–external, and external validation. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2016;69:245-7.

206. Boehncke WH, Boehncke S, Tobin AM, Kirby B. The 'psoriatic march': a concept of how severe psoriasis may drive cardiovascular comorbidity. Experimental dermatology. 2011;20(4):303-7.

207. Neovius M, Sundstrom A, Simard J, Wettermark B, Cars T, Feltelius N, et al. Small-area variations in sales of TNF inhibitors in Sweden between 2000 and 2009. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2011;40(1):8-15.

208. Löfvendahl s, Theander E, Svensson, Carlsson K, Englund M, Petersson I-F. Validity of diagnositic codes and prevalence of physician-diagnosed psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis in southern Sweden - a population based register study. PloS One. 2014;9(5):e98024.

209. Krol M, Brouwer W. How to estimate productivity costs in economic evaluations. Pharmacoeconomics. 2014;32(4):335-44.

210. Freidlin B, Korn EL. Testing treatment effects in the presence of competing risks. Statistics in Medicine. 2005;24(11):1703-12.

211. Pintile M. Analysing and interpreting competing risks. Statistics in Medicine. 2007;26(6):1360-7.

212. Gregori D, Petrinco M, Bo S, Desideri A, Merletti F, Pagano E. Regression models for analyzing costs and their determinants in health care: an introductory review. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2011;23(3):331-41.

213. Barber J, Thompson S. Multiple regression of cost data: use of generalised linear models. Journal of Health Services Research & Policy. 2004;9(4):197-204.

214. Calara PS, Althin R, Carlsson KS, Schmitt-Egenolf M. Regional differences in the prescription of biologics for psoriasis in Sweden: a register-based study of 4168 patients. BioDrugs. 2017;31(1):75-82.

215. Hoebert JM, Mantel-Teeuwisse AK, van Dijk L, Bijlsma JW, Leufkens HG. Do rheumatoid arthritis patients have equal access to treatment with new medicines? Tumour necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors use in four European countries. Health Policy. 2012;104(1):76-83.

216. Mrowietz U, Warren R, Leonardi C, Saure D, Petto H, Hartz S, et al. Network meta-analysis of biologic treatments for psoriasis using absolute Psoriasis Area and Severity Index (PASI) values  $\leq 1, 2, 3$  or 5 derived from a statistical conversion method. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2021.

217. Furukawa TA, Guyatt GH, Griffith LE. Can we individualize the 'number needed to treat'? An empirical study of summary effect measures in meta-analyses. International Journal of Epidemiology. 2002;31(1):72-6.

218. Christophers E, van de Kerkhof P. Severity, heterogeneity and systemic inflammation in psoriasis. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2019;33(4):643-7.

219. Naldi L. Psoriasis and smoking: links and risks. Psoriasis (Auckland, NZ).2016;6:65.

220. Svanström C, Lonne-Rahm S-B, Nordlind K. Psoriasis and alcohol. Psoriasis: Targets and Therapy. 2019;9:75.

221. Nast A, Gisondi P, Ormerod AD, Saiag P, Smith C, Spuls P, et al. European S3-Guidelines on the systemic treatment of psoriasis vulgaris–Update 2015–Short version–EDF in cooperation with EADV and IPC. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2015;29(12):2277-94.

222. Mason KJ, Barker JN, Smith CH, Hampton PJ, Lunt M, McElhone K, et al. Comparison of drug discontinuation, effectiveness, and safety between clinical trial eligible and ineligible patients in BADBIR. JAMA Dermatology. 2018;154(5):581-8.

223. Yiu Z, Mason K, Barker J, Hampton P, McElhone K, Smith C, et al. A standardization approach to compare treatment safety and effectiveness outcomes between clinical trials and real-world populations in psoriasis. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019;181(6):1265-71.

224. Iversen L, Eidsmo L, Austad J, De Rie M, Osmancevic A, Skov L, et al. Secukinumab treatment in new-onset psoriasis: aiming to understand the potential for disease modification–rationale and design of the randomized, multicenter STEPIn study. Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology. 2018;32(11):1930-9.

225. Parisi R, Rutter MK, Lunt M, Young HS, Symmons DP, Griffiths CE, et al. Psoriasis and the risk of major cardiovascular events: cohort study using the Clinical Practice Research Datalink. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2015;135(9):2189-97.